UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO

Dipartimento di Biotecnologie Mediche e Medicina Traslazionale Dottorato in Scienze Biochimiche – Ciclo XXXII – BIO/10



IDENTIFICATION OF THE ANTIGEN RECOGNIZED BY rHigM22, A REMYELINATION-PROMOTING HUMAN MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY

Docente guida: Prof. Alessandro Prinetti Direttore del corso di dottorato: Prof. Alessandro Prinetti

> Tesi di Dottorato di: LIVIA CABITTA Matricola n. R11622

Anno Accademico 2018/2019

SOMMARIO

ABSTRACT	1
ABBREVIATIONS	4
INTRODUCTION	6
Glycerolipids	7
Glycerolipids metabolism	8
Biological functions of Glycerolipids	
Sphingolipids	15
Sphingolipid Metabolism	
Biological functions of sphingolipids	
(Glyco)sphingolipids in membrane domains	21
Myelin development, damage and repair	23
Lipids in myelin	
Demyelination Process in Multiple Sclerosis	
Therapeutic approaches and remyelination promotion	
Proposed mechanism of action of remyelination-promoting IgM	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	45
Chromatography	49
Thin-layer chromatography	51
TLC immunostaining	53
Column Chromatography	54
Electrospray Ionisation Mass Spectrometry (ESI-MS)	55
Surface plasmon resonance	57
Statistical analysis	60
RESULTS	61

In vitro binding of rHIgM22 to purified lipids	62
Binding to sulfatide	62
Binding to lysosulfatide	65
Binding to glycolipids	67
Binding to glycerophospholipids	70
Effect of different lipids on the binding of rHIgM22 to sulfated containing monolayers	72
<i>In vitro</i> binding of rHIgM22 to lipid extracts	75
Mass spectrometry analysis	80
CONCLUSIONS	85
REFERENCES	92

ABSTRACT

All eukaryotic cells are surrounded by a cellular membrane that functions as a barrier between subcellular compartments and between the cell and its environment. In addition to proteins, they are composed by three different set of lipids: glycerolipids, sphingolipids and sterols. Glycerolipids are the major components of cell membranes and they are produced using phosphatidic acid (PtdOH) as a central precursor. Instead, sphingolipids (SLs), the minor cell components, have sphingosine as basic building block; the additions of oligosaccharides to sphingosine giving rise glycosphingolipids (GSLs). SLs and GSLs are not distribute homogeneously in the outer plasma membrane. They form small, heterogeneous, highly dynamic, sterol- and sphingolipid-enriched domains, called "lipid rafts"; in these semiordered lipid microdomains, SLs are involved in cell adhesion/recognition processes and signal transduction pathway. The organ with the highest enrichment in lipids such as cholesterol e glycosphingolipids, is the brain. Myelin, the fatty white substance that surrounds the axon of nerve cells, is characterized by a high lipid-to-protein ratio, where lipids representing 80% of its dry weight. The myelin membrane contains a high level of two galactosphingolipids, galactosylceramide (GalCer) and 3-O-sulfogalactosylceramide (sulfatide), account for about 20 and 5 % of myelin lipids respectively. The specific roles of GalCer and sulfatide seem to be linked to their ability to form and to stabilize specific lateral domains in the membrane of myelin forming-cells and in the myelin sheath, that regulate the correct sorting, trafficking, co-clustering and lateral distribution of the major myelin proteins. Recent reports have suggested that some of the myelin-specific lipids may be key contributors to the pathogenic mechanism of multiple sclerosis (MS), the most common demyelinating disease in the CNS. Individuals with MS disease are reported to have different myelin lipid compositions and elevated levels of anti-sulfatide Ab in biological fluids compared with healthy individuals. On the other hand, anti-myelin antibodies might represent an important immunological tool for the treatment of neurological diseases involving myelin lesions. In particular, it has been shown that human monoclonal antibodies that bind myelin and oligodendrocytes (OLs), as rHIgM22, can initiate dramatic increase in remyelination in animal models of demyelination. Nowadays, the exact mechanism of action of rHIgM22 remains to be elucidated, but some evidence suggest that the mechanism is correlated with the organization of lipid rafts on the surface of myelin and OLs.

The experiments described in this thesis were aimed at the individuation of the molecular target(s) of the antibody and at the characterization of its membrane microenvironment, in order to better understand the characteristics of rHIgM22 and its remyelinating activity.

The binding of rHIgM22 to purified lipids and to lipid extracts from various sources were tested using TLC immunostaining assays and SPR assays. The results obtained show that rHIgM22 binds to sulfatide, and, to a lesser extent, to lysosulfatide in vitro, while it does not bind to other myelin sphingolipids. The binding affinity for both sulfatide and its deacylated derivate is low, even if the binding is specific. On the other hand, our data shows that the binding affinity of rHIgM22 for sulfatide can be modulated by the presence of other lipids suggesting a possible role of the membrane microenvironment in the recognition of the antigen by rHIgM22. In addition, rHIgM22 also reacts with phosphatidic acid, phosphatidylinositol (PI) and phosphatidylserine (PS).

To verify whether rHIgM22 can bind sulfatide or other lipids, the binding of rHIgM22 was tested not only to purified lipids, but also to partially purified lipid extracts obtained from wild type, ASM (-/-), CST (+/-) and CST (-/-) mice brains, mouse mixed glial cells (MGC), mouse astrocytes, rat rHIgM22+ OLs, rat microglia, and mouse myelin. In TLC immunostaining experiments for aqueous phases, we observed rHIgM22-immunoreactive bands co-migrating with the pure sulfatide standard and, unexpectedly, a second rHIgM22-immunoreactive band migrating below sulfated, co-migrating with the pure phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylserine standard, confirming the TLC immunostraining data to purified lipids. The identity of phospholipid species has been confirmed by ESI mass spectrometry experiments; they show that phosphatidylinositol was an 18:0/20:4-PI and phosphatidylserine was 18:0/22:6-PS and 18:0/18:1-PS. In addition, MS analysis for the fractions enriched in sulfatide, shows that rHIgM22 can bind different sulfated species suggesting that this binding is not fatty acid species-specific for the sulfatide.

All these data suggest that not only sulfatide, but also other membrane lipids might play a role in the binding of rHIgM22 to OLs or to other cell types. Moreover, the antigen recognized by rHIgM22 could be associated with plasma membrane lipid rafts in these cells and this target could be including in a multimolecular complex. The identification of the binding target(s) of a rHIgM22, and the characterization of their membrane microenvironment, could greatly contribute to the elucidation of the signaling mechanisms underlying the remyelination promoting activity of this antibody and also of those involved in MS etiology, allowing to define new potential therapeutic strategies.

ABBREVIATIONS

Aq. Ph.	Aqueous phase
CGT	UDP-galactose:ceramide galactosyltransferase
CNS	Central nervous system
CST	3'-phosphoadenosine-5'-phosphosulfate:cerebroside sulfotransferase
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
ESI-MS	Electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry
GalCer	Galactosylceramide
GlcCer	Glucosylceramide
GSLs	Glycosphingolipids
LacCer	Lactosylceramide
MS	Mass Spectrometry
MS	Multiple sclerosis
OLs	Mature oligodendrocytes
OPCs	Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells
Or. Ph.	Organic phase
PDGFαR	Platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha
PtdCho - PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PtdEtn - PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PtdIns - PI	Phosphatidylinositol
PtdOH - PA	Phosphatidic acid
PtdSer - PS	Phosphatidylserine
rHIgM22	Recombinant human Immunoglobulin M22
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate
SK1	Sphingosine kinase 1
SK2	Sphingosine kinase 2
SLs	Sphingolipids
SM	Sphingomyelin
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance
Sulfatide	3-O-sulfogalactosylceramide
TLC	Thin layer chromatography
TMEV	Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus

INTRODUCTION

All eukaryotic cells are surrounded by a cellular membrane that functions as a barrier between subcellular compartments and between the cell and its environment [1]. The basic structure of all biological membranes is biomolecular leaf arrangement of lipids, in which the amphoteric lipids and cholesterol are oriented so that the hydrophobic portions of the molecules interact, minimizing their contact with water or other polar group, and the polar head groups of the lipids are at the interface with the aqueous environment. In 1972 Singer and Nicholson introduced the "fluid mosaic model" to explain the organization and structure of proteins and lipids that constitute the biological membranes. In this model, proteins are actually immersed in a lipid fluid bilayer while others are attached either to the inner or the outer surface of the membrane [2]. Cellular membranes are formed from a different set of lipids, present in various amounts and proportions. Glycerolipids, sphingolipids and sterols are the major classes of lipids that constituted biological membrane and there is an asymmetric distribution of these lipid components across them [3].

Glycerolipids

Glycerolipids are a classes of lipids that have as basic building block the 1,2-diacylglycerol 3phosphate (PtdOH, PA or phosphatidic acid), which has a fatty acyl or alkyl group at the sn-1, fatty acyl groups at the sn-2 positions and a characteristic phosphate ester group at the sn-3 position of glycerol [4]. Fatty acids in sn-1 are usually saturated, whereas in sn-2 are unsaturated. The glycerophospholipid classes are defined based on the substituent at the phosphate ester group *at sn*-3 position of PtdOH: choline (PtdCho or PC), ethanolamine (PtdEtn or PE), serine (PtdSer or PS) and phosphatidylinositol (PtdIns or PI). The membranes contain also the plasmalogens (PlsCho and PlsEtn), glycerophospholipids containing vinyl-ether linkages and enriched in polyunsaturated fatty acids at the *sn*-2 position [5].

Glycerophospholipids are amphipathic molecules characterized by a polar (head group) and nonpolar ends (tail). The polar end is charged due to the ionization of the phosphate group and nitrogenous base, instead the nonpolar tail (fatty acid acyl chains) are hydrophobic and tend to aggregate in an aqueous environment (Fig. 1). Physicochemical characteristics of membranes depending by variations in the head group, length of the phospholipid acyl chains and the degree of saturation of them. In fact, there is diversity in the fatty-acyl species because of differences in chain length and degree of unsaturation of the esterified fatty acid and in the distribution of them in the asymmetric bilayer.



Figure 1. Common glycerophospholipids structure

Glycerolipids metabolism

PtdOH is the precursor of all glycerophospholipids. It consists of glycerol-3-phosphate with longchain fatty acids esterified at the sn -1 and sn -2 positions and the glycerophospholipid classes are defined based on the substituent at the sn-3 position. Apart from phosphotidylinositols, phospholipids are synthesised on the cytoplasmic leaflet of the endoplasmatic reticulum and to the lesser extent in the Golgi complex and inside mitochondria.

PtdCho and PtdEtn are synthesized mainly via Kennedy cycle [5]. This pathway involves three enzymic steps: (1) choline or ethanolamine kinases, localized in cytosol; (2) choline or ethanolamine phosphate cytidylyltransferases (PCCT and PECT), distributed between cytosol and membrane; (3) CDP-choline or CDP-ethanolamine 1,2-diacylglycerol choline or ethanolamine phosphotransferase, integral membrane proteins predominantly present in endoplasmic reticulurn [6]. The first committed step of PtdCho and PtdEtn synthesis is base phosphorylation by choline or ethanolamine kinase to form phosphocoline and phosphoethanolamine. This is followed by the incorporation of CTP (cytidine triphosphate) to produce CDP-choline or CDP- ethanolamine by PCCT and PECT, respectively. In final step, choline and ethanolamine phosphotransferases catalyze the transfer of phosphocholine or phosphoethanolamine to 1,2-diacyIglycerol from CDP-choline or CDP-effimolamine, with the release of CMP. PtdCho is also synthesized by the repeated methylation of PtdEtn with *S*-adenosylmethionine, reaction catalyzed by PtdEtn *N*-methyltransferase in endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria [5].

PtdSer is synthesized by base-exchange between PtdEtn or PtdCho with serine, where the phosphodiester bond of PtdEtn or PtdCho is attacked by the hydroxyl group of serine. The reaction is catalyzed by phosphatidylserine synthase I and II localized in endoplasmic reticulum and stimulated by Ca^{2+} . The de novo synthesis of PtdIns start with the biosynthesis of CDP-diacylglycerol by CDP-diacylglycerol synthase localized in endoplasmic reticulum. This is followed by the reaction between CDP-diacylglycerol and inositol by phosphatidylinositol synthase [7]. PtdIns can be synthesized also by an exchange reaction in which, in the presence of manganese, free myoinositol is incorporated into phosphatidylinositol [8].

PtdIns is the only phospholipid able to undergo reversible and transient changes at its head-group with phosphorylation on position 3,4 and/or 5. This yields seven different phosphorylated forms of PtdIns: PtdIns-4-P, PtdIns- 4,5-P₂, PtdIns-3-P, PtdIns-3,4-P₂, and PtdIns-3,4,5- P₃. The most abundant of these are PtdIns-4-P and PtdIns-4,5-P2inmammalian cells [9]. In addition, CDP-diacylglycerol is the direct precursor for phosphatidylglycerol (PtdGro) and cardiolipin (di-PtdGro) [10].



Figure 2. Biosynthesis of glycerophospholipids in brain. Adapted from Farooqui et al. 2000.

Biological functions of Glycerolipids

Glycerolipids are a structurally heterogeneous group of lipids that play key structural and functional roles in bacterial, plant, and animal membranes. The role of these lipids in cellular biochemistry is only partly clarified, but it is clear them contribution to the cellular homeostasis. They are involved in the membrane structuring and curvature changing, cellular growth, protein recruitment, signal transduction pathways.

Phospholipids in membranes constituted barriers to protect the cell and for the organelles within those cells. Tougher proteins, phospholipids contribute to the membrane curvature; depending on their biochemical structure, some phospholipids induce negative curvature of a membrane while others induce a positive one [11]. In cellular plasma membrane, the lipid components are asymmetric dispersed and this distribution is not randomly. In general, the external leaflet is dominated by PtdCho, whereas PtdIns is mostly restricted to the cytoplasmic leaflet (Fig. 3) [12]. Although migration of lipids across the bilayer is a slow mechanism, phospholipids are translocated often by special proteins such as flippases, floppases and scramblases [13].



Figure 3. Lipid composition varies across the two leaflets of the same membrane. *Adapted from Lehninger principles of biochemistry.*

Phosphatidic acid (PtdOH) is the most basic phospholipid and serves as a precursor to other glycerophospholipids and due to its conical shape it is involved in curving of membranes [14]. Conversion of PtdOH to diacyl-glycerol, however, is also important for regulatory aspects because diacylglycerol can serve as a lipid second messenger [15] and as a mediator of vesicle formation [16]. Lyso-PtdOH is a naturally occurring phospholipid with hormone and growth factor-like activities. Lyso-PtdOH acts as a signaling molecule that is rapidly produced and released by activated cells. Lyso-PtdOH added extracellularly binds to specific receptors of target cells and stimulates platelet aggregation, smooth muscle contraction, induction of neuronal shape changes and leads to cell proliferation [10]. In addition, PtdOH inhibits mitochondrial division and stimulates mitochondrial outer membrane fusion [17] and it binds to the Rac protein [18].

Phosphatidylcholine (PtdCho) is an ion known as a zwitterion, has a cylinder shape and is the major component of biological membranes, comprising 45-55% of the total lipids [19]. Nonetheless, it was reported to be involved in signal transduction events, serving as a substrate for the phospholipases to generate signal messengers: it is hydrolysed to release DAG, lysophosphatidylcholine, PtdOH (by phospholipase D) and arachidonic acid (by phospholipase A2). In neurons, PC can be additionally cleaved by phospholipase B, yielding one glycerophosphocholine molecule and two free fatty acids [19]. In addition, PtdCho can be converted to sphingomyelins by SM synthase [20]

Phosphatidylethanolamine (PtdEtn) is also a zwitterionic lipid that constituted 15 – 25% of the phospholipids [21]. Due to a small size of the head group respect to PtdCho, PE adopts a moderately conical shape and induces a negative curvature to the membrane [22]. It is enriched in the inner membrane leaflet and it is translocated by across the membrane by the aminophospholipid flippases [23]. In addition to its structural role in membranes PtdEtn has multiple important cellular functions that were until recently unrecognized. PtdEtn have an important role in the phospholipid metabolism, being a substrate for almost all other phospholipids. For example, phosphatidylserine synthase 2 (PSS2) makes PtdSer out of PtdEtn at the ER [24]. PtdEtn is also the donor of the ethanolamine moiety that covalently modifies several proteins [22] and it is the substrate for the hepatic enzyme PE N-methyltransferase [25] that provides approximately one third of the PC in the liver. PtdEtn seems to have an important role in the heart since a decreased PE content of cardiac myocytes causes cell damage after ischemia, and a tered asymmetrical transbilayer distribution of PE in sarcolemmal membranes disrupts these membranes [26]. In the final steps of

autophagy, it is used for attachment to LC3 and for autophagosome formation [27, 28], so it is an important autophagy marker.

Cardiolipin (di-PtdGro) is a cone-shaped phospholipid dimer and is the chief non-bilayer phospholipid found in mitochondria, which are the only organelles to make this lipid [29]. Di-PtdGro have a head group (glycerol) that is esterified to two phosphatidylglyceride backbone fragments rather than one, resulting in a cone-shaped phospholipid dimer.

It is the chief non-bilayer phospholipid found in mitochondria, which are the only organelles to make this lipid and it is almost exclusively associated with the inner mitochondrial membrane.

This exclusivity association between di-PtdGro and mitochondria indicates an important role for PtdGro in mitochondrial bioenergetic processes. Di-PtdGro been shown to interact with a number of proteins, including the respiratory chain complexes, substrate carrier proteins and with a large number of innermitochondrial membrane (IMM) proteins, enzymes and metabolitecarriers [30]. Moreover, cardiolipin is involved in different stages of the mitochondrial apoptotic process and in mitochondrial membrane dynamics [31].

Phosphatidylserine (PtdSer), that makes up 2-10% of the total cellular phospholipid content, have a phosphoserine head-group which make him a anionic amino-phospholipid [32]. PtdSer has important signaling functions both inside and outside of the cell but it is not symmetrically distributed across the two leaflets of the membrane bilayer. It is normally highly enriched in the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane, while PtdCho and sphingomyelin, are enriched in the outer leaflet [33]. The start point of several important biological processes causes a redistribution of PS from the inner to the outer, surface of the plasma membrane. For example, during the blood-clotting cascade, the transbilayer asymmetry of PtdSer in the plasma membrane of activated platelets is markedly altered so that PtdSer becomes exposed on the cell surface [34, 35]. During sperm maturation, the asymmetric distribution of PtdSer in the plasma membrane changes and PtdSer becomes exposed on the surface of the sperm [36]. The well-characterized process where there is a transbilayer movement of PtdSer from the inner to the outer leaflet is during the early stages of apoptosis: the exposure of PtdSer on the surface of apoptotic cells ("eat me" signal) has been identified as both an early event in apoptosis and a prerequisite for engulfment of these cells by phagocytic cells [37-40]. In addition, the exposure of PS on the surface of red blood cells serves as a signal for eryptosis [41]. Furthermore, lyso-PtdSer (PS hydrolysis product) is exposed on the surface of activated and dying neutrophils thus initiating the clearance of these cells during acute

inflammation [42]. PtdSer has not only extracellular functions, but it has been demonstrated also its participation in many intracellular processes. For example, PtdSer is the precursor of PtdEtn via the mitochondrial enzyme PtdSer decarboxylase [43]. Although PS represents a minor phospholipid in mammalian cells, it is required for many fundamental cellular processes. The essential role of PS in mammalian cells was highlighted by the observation that mice in which PS synthesis was completely eliminated did not survive [44].

PtdIns, also called monophosphoinositide, is an anionic lipid that comprises 10 - 15% of the cellular phospholipids. It is present in various organelles and, like the aminophospholipids, it is enriched in the inner leaflet of the plasmalemma than in the outer leaflet [12, 45]. PtdIns is the unique lipid subjected to reversible and transient changes at its head-group, with phosphorylation on position 3,4 and/or 5. This produces seven distinct phosphoinositides species, involved in the regulation of different cellular metabolic pathways [22]. PtdIns is not only the precursor of the phosphoinositides species, but it is also an important source of the glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPtdIns), an anchor for the membrane-destined proteins. It synthetized on the cytosolic side of ER with subsequent flipping of the product inside the lumen, where the COOH terminus of the proteins can be covalently attached.

PtdIns(3)P is abundant in the cytoplasmic leaflet of the membrane of early endosomes. It has also been detected on internal vesicles of multivesicular bodies. PtdIns(3)P is made primarily by phosphorylation of PtdIns by class III PtdIns3K (22), secondarily by class II PtdInsP3K. In addition, PtdIns(3)P can be generated by dephosphorylation of PtdIns(3,4)P2 by Inpp4. PtdIns(3)P is degraded by 3'-phosphatases of the myotubularin family [46] and mutations in members of this family cause myotubular myopathy and Charcot-Marie-Tooth syndrome type 4B [47]. PtdIns(3)P plays very important roles in membrane traffic, directing endosome progression and phagosome maturation and regulating autophagy, and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [48, 49].

PtdIns(4)P is enriched in the Golgi apparatus and, at lower concentrations, it is found on endosomes, plasma membrane, and ER. PtdIns(4)P is generated from PtdIns by two types of PtdIns 4-kinase (PtdIns4K; not to be confused with PtdInsP4K). PtdIns(4)P can be degradated or converted to more complex inositide species. PtdIns(4)P is key to sphingolipid synthesis in the Golgi complex, where it interacts with various proteins that include [50].

PtdIns(5)P is not very abundant so its distribution, metabolism and functions have not been fully characterized. PtdIns(5)P can be made from PtdIns(3,5)P₂ by dephosphorylation operated by myotubularins, which are 3'-phosphatases [51]. It is used as a substrate by type II PtdInsP5K to generate PtdIns(4,5)P₂ (302), but this pathway is likely a minor contributor to the overall biosynthesis of PtdIns(4,5)P₂ (307). PtdIns(5)P may also play a role in traffic between the late endosome and the plasma membrane, where PtdIns(3,5)P₂ and PtdIns(4,5)P₂, respectively, are enriched.

PtdIns(3,4)P₂ can be produced from PtdIns(4)P by phosphorylation at the 3' position of the inositol ring by the class II PtdInsP3K, from PtdIns(3)P by type II PtdInsP4K or from dephosphorylation of PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ by 5' phosphatases (73). PtdIns(3,4)P₂ can be converted in PtdIns(3)P and PtdIns(4)P by removal of the 4' phosphate or 3' phosphate, respectively, by specific phosphatases. PtdIns(3,4)P₂ is a potent survival signal and it can positively regulate tumor cell invasion [52].

PtdIns(4,5)P2 constituted 1–2 mol% of the phospholipids [53] at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane. It is produced from PtdIns(4)P and PtdIns(3)P by specific kinases or from PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 by dephosphorylation. Furthermore, PtdIns(4,5)P2 itself can be dephosphorylated by 5'-phosphatases [54]. PtdIns(4,5)P2 is substrate for lipases and kinases that generate several signaling molecules. For example, it can be phosphorylated by PtdInsP3K to produce PtdIns(3,4,5)P3, which is a critical mediator of cellular activation or it can be hydrolyzed into IP3,

began a Ca^2 -mobilizing agent[55].

It is produced by phosphorylation of PtdIns(3)P on position 5' by PtdInsK-FYVE [56]. PtdIns(3,5)P₂ is dephosphorylated on the 3' position by myotubularins to generate PtdIns(5)P or, more commonly, it is dephosphorylated on the 5' position by Sac3. Its physiological role is not total clear, but PtdIns(3,5)P₂ seems to be implicated in the osmotic stress response, in autophagy, and in the control of ionic channel activity [57]. PtdIns(3,5)P₂ is found on late endosomal [58].

PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 makes up 1% of the total lipid (349) and it is one of the major survival signal. PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 is generate from PtdIns(4,5)P2 by class I PtdInsP3-kinases. It can be dephosphorylated by both 3'phosphatases and 5'phosphatases to give PtdIns(4,5)P2 and PtdIns(3,4)P2, respectively. A number of important signaling proteins, such as PLC-, Akt, Vav, and PDK isoforms, bear PtdIns(3,4,5)P3-binding domains that recruit and/or activate them at the membrane.

Sphingolipids

Sphingolipids (SLs) are minor cell components and they reside in the external layer of the plasma membrane with the hydrophilic headgroup protruding toward the extracellular environment [59].



Figure 4. Common sphingolipids structure

The basic building block of sphingolipids is sphingosine, (2S, 3R, 4E)-2-amino-4- octadecene-1,3diol (Fig. 4); the C1-phosphate ester of sphingosine is commonly named as sphingosine-1phosphate [60]. Ceramide, the simplest SL, consists of a sphingoid base to which a fatty acid is attached at C-2 via N-acylation; the additions of oligosaccharides to sphingosine giving rise glycosphingolipids (GSLs), as glucosylceramide (GlcCer) and galactosylceramide (GalCer); the subsequent addition of a sulfate group to a galactosylceramide produces sulfatide, an anionic sulfoglycolipid. By adding a phosphorylcholine moiety, it results sphingomyelin (SM), a very abundant membrane lipid. Glycosphingolipids with a capping N-acetylneuraminic acid are known as gangliosides [61].



Figure 5. Subcellular compartmentalization of sphingolipid metabolism. *Adapted from Grassi et al,* 2019 [62].

Sphingolipid Metabolism

Sphingolipids (SLs) are a class of natural lipids comprised of sphingosine; the predominant mammalian sphingoid bases contain 18 carbon atoms [63]. The *de novo* biosynthesis of SLs starts at the cytosolic leaflet of membranes of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), with the condensation of serine and palmitoyl CoA by serine palmitoyl transferase [64] to form 3-ketosphinganine, which is subsequently reduced by 3-ketosphinganine reductase to produce sphinganine. Dihydroceramide synthase (CerS) [65] next acylates sphinganine to form dihydroceramide. In humans this is

achieved by six distinct CerS genes (known as LASS genes) that encode for a family of CerS enzymes with differing selectivity for the CoA-activated fatty acid [65]. The majority of dihydroceramide is transformed into ceramide (Cer) by dihydroceramide desaturase/reductase (DES1), which inserts a trans 4 - 5 double bond [66]; ceramide is the central molecule in the sphingolipid biology. Ceramide is also generated during the catabolism of SLs that occurs in lysosomes, and rapidly converted to sphingosine which is largely recycled. Ceramide synthase is able to use as substrate both sphingosine and sphinganine with similar efficiency [67] so ceramide can be also formed by N-acylation of sphingosine produced by the catabolism of complex sphingolipids.

The neo-synthesized ceramide could reach directly the membrane or be transported to the Golgi complex, where it serves as a substrate for production of complex sphingolipids (Fig. 5). Ceramide is the precursor of at least five different products:

(1) Ceramide can be glycosylated to galactosylceramide (GalCer) at the lumenal leaflet of the ER by the transfer of galactose from a UDP-galactose donor [68]. GalCer can be diversified into Sulfatide or GM4 by sulfation or glycosylation at its 3-O-position with Neu5Ac [69].

(2) Ceramide can be phosphorylated by ceramide kinase to generate ceramide-1-phosphate. The subcellular localization of this enzyme is not clear but has been suggested to be the PM [70], Golgi apparatus [71], and the cytoplasm [72].

(3) Ceramide can be deacylated to sphingosine and free fatty acid by various forms of ceramidases, acting at either neutral (PM [73]), alkaline (ER/Golgi complex [74]), or acidic (lysosomal [75]) pH. Ceramidase activity has also been reported in mitochondria [21].

(4) Ceramide can be converted to SM. The synthesis of SM from ceramide occurs at the lumenal leaflet of the Golgi apparatus by transfer of phosphorylcholine from phosphatidylcholine (PC) to ceramide, with diacylglycerol formed as a by-product [76, 77]. Two SM synthases have been identified: SMS1 is located at the Golgi apparatus and SMS2 at the PM [78, 79]. Since ceramide is synthesized in the ER, there are two mechanisms for transferring ceramide to the Golgi apparatus for its metabolism to SM: vesicular and non-vesicular transport mechanisms. With the non-vesicular transport, ceramide is transported to the cytosolic leaflet of the trans-Golgi membrane by the ceramide transfer protein (CERT), in an ATP-dependent manner [80]. CERT transfers ceramides of relatively short acyl chain length (C16 – 20) from the ER specifically for SM synthesis in the Golgi apparatus [81].

(5) With the vesicular transport, ceramide is transported to the cytosolic leaflet of the cis-Golgi membrane; here, ceramide can be glycosylated to glucosylceramide (GlcCer), by glucosylceramide synthase (GCS). [82].

In alternative pathway, ceramide is phosphorylated in ceramide-1-phosphate at the plasma membrane by ceramide kinase (CERK). Ceramide-1-phosphate can be hydrolyzed by lipid phosphate phosphatase (LPP) to give ceramide [83]. Acid, alkaline and neutral ceramidases are capable of deacylating ceramide to generate pools of sphingosine at specific cellular locations. This sphingosine can be both phosphorylated to sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) by sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1), which operates at the plasma membrane and in the extracellular matrix, or by sphingosine kinase 2 (SK2) which is located at the ER, nucleus and mitochondria [62]. S1P levels can be downregulated by S1P phosphatase. The cellular orchestration of these complex interconversions between SLs is called the sphingomyelin cycle, and is an evidence to the role of these SLs in extra-and intracellular signaling pathways. The only currently known exit pathway from this interconnected SL metabolism is the degradation of S1P by S1P-lyase at the ER [61].

In the cytosolic side of the cis-Golgi apparatus membrane, GCS catalyzes the glycosylation of the primary hydroxy group in ceramide, using UDP-glucose as a donor glycoside, to generate GlcCer. GlcCer can either directly reach the plasma membrane, transported in a non-vesicular manner (GLTP transport protein) [84, 85] or be translocated to the luminal side of the Golgi either with FAPP2 or vesicular transport [86, 87]; here GlcCer flips into the Golgi lumen and then it is galactosyltransferase (GalT1) to give lactosylceramide glycosylated by (LacCer). Lactosylceramide, that, once produced, stays at luminal side of Golgi. [88]. Lactosylceramide is extended sequentially at either the 3-O-positon or the 4-O position; most of these GSLs consist of alternating and branched combinations of a- or b- linked glucose, galactose, N-galactosamine and N-acetylglucosamine. Of particular interest are the gangliosides, that is, lactosylceramide-derived sphingolipids containing capping N-acetylneuraminic acid (sialic acid) units. In 1962 Svennerholm, a pioneer in ganglioside research, suggested a nomenclature of brain gangliosides [89]. In this nomenclature G stands for ganglioside, A for asialo-, M for monosialo-, D for disialo-, and T for trisialoganglioside [90, 91]. Specific sialyl transferases convert lactosylceramide stepwise into GM3, GD3, and GT3. Lactosylceramide and each of its sialylated derivatives serve as precursors for complex gangliosides of the 0, a, b, and c series. These different series are characterized by the presence of no (0 series), one (a series), two (b series), or three sialic acid residues (c series) linked to the 3-position of the inner galactose moiety. Gangliosides from the 0 and c series are only found in trace amounts in adult human tissues.



Figure 6. Schematic biosynthetic pathway of glycosphingolipids. Adapted from Olsen et al, 2017 [92].

Biological functions of sphingolipids

In recent years, there is more and more evidence that SLs are not merely structural components of biological membranes, but are also regulators of cellular events.

The simple SLs, ceramide, ceramide-1-phosphate, sphingosine, and S1P are involved in several cellular events such as proliferation, differentiation, motility, growth, senescence, and apoptosis. Furthermore, complex SLs are involved in cell physiology by acting as antigens, as mediators of cell adhesion, binding agents for microbial toxins and growth factors, and as modulators of signal transduction [66]. Within the simple SLs, Cer and S1P are the best investigated components; they

have an opposite role in apoptosis processes and the levels of these two molecules regulates the balance between cell survival and death.

It has been known for years that ceramide has a role in apoptosis. The ceramide levels are increased by several extracellular signals, inducing apoptosis: heat shock, ionizing radiation, oxidative stress, progesterone, vitamin D3, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-a, interleukin (IL)-1a, IL-1b, interferon-g, Fas ligand, oxidized low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and nitric oxide [93].

At today, the mechanisms supposed through which ceramide induces apoptosis are two [94]. In the first mechanism, ceramide produced in the plasma membrane acts as a second messenger and it binds to proteins whose activity it regulates; these proteins are the ceramide-activated protein phosphatase, protein kinase Cz, kinase suppressor of Ras, phospholipase A₂, cathepsin D, Jun-N-terminal kinases (JNKs), Ras and Rac, and Src-like tyrosine kinases [66]. In the second mechanism acts a signaling lipid: it can self-associate in the plasma membrane [95] and stimulate the fusion of GSL- and cholesterol-containing rafts into large signaling macrodomains (signaling platforms) [96]. In an additional mechanism, ceramide might induce apoptosis interacting with mitochondria. With a still unknown vehicle, ceramide is transported to mitochondria from ER and here forms membrane channels through which cytochrome c and small proteins are transported, leading to activation of the caspase-dependent apoptotic pathway [97, 98].

Likewise, S1P can act as both a first and second messenger but with opposite roles respect ceramide. As a first messenger, S1P regulates processes such as cytoskeletal rearrangement, cell migration, angiogenesis and immunity and lymphocyte trafficking. As an intracellular second messenger, S1P mediates calcium homeostasis, cell growth, tumorogenesis and suppression of apoptosis [66]. S1P can trigger signal transduction pathways by acting on the same cell from which it is secreted, by acting in an autocrine manner [96].

S1P seems to have opposite effects to ceramide in the pathways relating to cell growth and survival. Ceramide is implicated in growth-inhibitory and pro-apoptotic effects, contrariwise S1P is implicated in cell growth and inhibition of ceramide-mediated apoptosis. Moreover, sphingosine appears to act in a similar fashion to ceramide, whereas ceramide-1- phosphate shares similar functions with S1P [103]. This suggests that the balance between survival and death may depend on a delicate equilibrium between intracellular levels of each of these SLs.

Sphingomyelin is involved in plasma membrane signal transduction, cholesterol efflux and intracellular lipid and protein trafficking [99, 100]. As mentioned above, the major cellular site of SM synthesis is the Golgi apparatus [76, 77], but SM have also been observed in nuclear membranes and in mitochondria. In these membranes, SM are believed to be an important source of ceramides for the nuclear [101] and mitochondrial [102] apoptotic cascades, respectively.

Gangliosides are ubiquitously found in tissues and body fluids and are more abundantly expressed in the nervous system [103]. In cells, gangliosides are primarily, but not exclusively, localized in the outer leaflets of plasma membranes and here are involved in cell-cell recognition and adhesion and signal transduction. In addition to cell plasma membranes, gangliosides have been shown to be present on nuclear membranes where play important roles in modulating intracellular and intranuclear calcium homeostasis and the ensuing cellular functions [104].

(Glyco)sphingolipids in membrane domains

Contrariwise of phosphoglycerolipids, SLs and GSLs are not distribute homogeneously in the outer plasma membrane. They form small (10-200 nm), heterogeneous, highly dynamic (ca. 0.1-1000ms), sterol- and sphingolipid-enriched domains, called "lipid rafts", that compartmentalize cellular processes on the surface of plasma membrane [105, 106]; in these semiordered lipid microdomains, SLs are involved in cell adhesion/recognition processes and signal transduction pathway. These microdomains exist in a gel-like liquid-ordered phase (lo), which has a lower diffusion rate than the surrounding liquid-disordered (ld) phosphoglycerolipid-rich plasma membrane [61]. Initially, proof of the existence of lipid microdomains was their isolation by extraction of membranes at 4°C in the presence of specific detergents: the so-called detergent resistant membrane domains (DRMDs). The presence of lipid rafts in vivo is supported by several lines of evidence, including the results of electron microscopy using the freeze-fracture technique [107], a single-particle tracking study [105], a fluorescence resonance energy transfer study [108] and a chemical crosslinking study [109]. Rafts have been shown to exist in both the extracellular, as well as the cytosolic, layer of the plasma membrane [110]. The connection between both layers is not clear, but the crossing of long- and very-long-chain fatty acyl chains of sphingolipids through both layers, interacting with saturated acyl chains on phospholipids, appears likely to contribute to the involvement of both lipid layers [99].

In lipid rafts, glycosphingolipids are usually highly asymmetrically enriched in the external leaflet of the plasma membranes, with the oligosaccharide chain protruded toward the extracellular space, where the sugar residues can engage *cis* and *trans* interactions with a wide variety of cell surface and extracellular molecules [111]. In fact, several proteins, including GPI-anchored proteins,

flotillins, caveolins, G-protein- coupled receptors, and certain receptor tyrosine kinases such as the epidermal growth factor receptor and the insulin receptor, appear to associate with these microdomains. Principally, two hypotheses have been developed to explain how lipid rafts accumulate and remain in the membrane as an entity. One hypothesis proposes that the headgroups of sphingolipids interact with each others amide and hydroxy/carboxy group, therefore holding sphingolipids together [112], while cholesterol fills the space between the bulky sphingolipid headgroups and is additionally kept in place by hydrogen bonds and van der Waals interactions between its 3-OH group and the sphingolipid amide groups [113]. The second hypothesis attributes the tight assembly in rafts to the interaction of mainly saturated acyl chains, which also favours cholesterol packing [114]. A major subclass of rafts are caveolae which are invaginations of the cell membrane characterized by the abundance of caveolin, a palmitoylated membrane protein that causes rafts to polymerize [115]. Most of the functions of caveolins are currently unclear, but they have been proposed to act as cholesterol sensors and thereby regulate the number of lipid rafts in the cell membrane [116].

Lipid membrane domains are characterized not only by a peculiar lipid composition, but also by the presence of specific subsets of membrane proteins. For the cell biology of neurons, the most relevant examples of proteins whose functions are modulated by the association with lipid membrane domains are represented by membrane receptors. Some of these receptors are already resident in lipid domains at the resting state, and, upon activation, they can propagate signals to other components intrinsically present in the lipid membrane domain; in other cases, activation of a signaling protein involves its translocation from/to lipid rafts to/from a non-raft membrane region or other intracellular sites [117]. As an example, the lipid raft-dependent lateral interaction involving GM1 ganglioside (and likely other ganglio-series structures, highly expressed in neurons) and the Trk family neurotrophin receptors. Association with Src family non-receptor tyrosine kinases, which are typically highly enriched in neuronal lipid rafts [118, 119] in a cell-and stage-specific manner, and whose activity is as well regulated by gangliosides. The main roles of lipid membrane domains as signaling platforms involved in events crucial for neuronal survival, synaptic transmission, axon growth, guidance, and regeneration are summarized in Fig. 7.



Figure 7. The multifaceted roles of lipid membrane domains in the nervous system. *Adapted from Aureli et al*, 2015 [117].

Myelin development, damage and repair

The rapid transduction of electrical impulses is required for the efficient function of the vertebrate nervous system. The conduction velocity of these impulses is increased by the presence of myelin, an insulating layer surrounding the axon [120, 121]. In the CNS, the oligodendrocyte is the resident cell type responsible for the production of myelin that consists of oligodendroglial plasma membrane loops strongly wound concentrically around the axon. Mature myelin consists of up to

160 membrane layers, and internodes extend up to 1.7 mm in the CNS and up to 2 mm in the PNS [122, 123]. In postnatal development, the myelin membranes of an oligodendrocyte may grow by as much as 5,000 μ m² per day [124].

The CNS myelinating oligodendrocytes are terminally differentiated cells with a limited ability to respond to damage. They depend from the availability of their precursors, the oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs) that can proliferate, migrate and differentiate into defined progeny [125], either oligodendrocytes or astrocytes depending on the context [126, 127]. Generation of OPCs in the spinal cord occurs in two steps. The first is ventral, with OPCs observed initially within the ventricular zone of the motor neuron progenitor (pMN) domain of neuroepithelium, in early embryonic life [128, 129]. Subsequently, the second step occurs in the dorsal spinal cord and hindbrain/telencephalon of the brain in late embryonic development and early post-natal life [130-132]. These proliferating cells migrate into the developing white matter, exit the cell cycle, undergo differentiation into mature oligodendrocytes, and begin to express a subset of myelin-associated proteins and other specific markers, several of which are glycosphingolipids [133] (Fig. 8).



Figure 8. Schematic representation of the morphological and antigenic characteristics of cells of the oligodendroglial lineage differentiating from mitogenic progenitor cells to mature myelinating OLGs. Multi-potent neural stem cells (nestin+) are specified into oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs; A2B5+, PDGF R+, and NG2+) by exposure to sonic hedgehog (SHH) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), whereas bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs) inhibit this specification. This specification involves the transcription factors Olig2, Nkx2.2, Mash1, MyT1, Nkx2.6, Gli2, and Sox 8/9/10. OPCs can differentiate into multiple cell types including astrocytes, neurons, and Schwann cells. Differentiation along the oligodendroglial lineage to pre-oligodendrocytes/immature oligodendrocytes (O4+/ GalC+) is potentiated by the growth factor IGF-1, the cytokine CNTF, and the thyroid hormone T3, and requires the transcription factors Olig1/2, Sox10, and Nkx2.2/2.6. Conversely, BMPs and transcription factors Sox5/6 prevent this differentiation. Differentiation into mature oligodendrocytes is associated with acquisition of myelin-related proteins, MBP, MAG, MOG, oligodendrocyte–myelin glycoprotein (OMgp), and 2, 3-cyclic nucleotide 3 - phosphodiesterase (CNPase). *Adapted from Miron et al*, 2011 [134].

Upon first contact with an axonal membrane, the extremity of the OPC membrane is either retracted or stabilized (Fig. 9); when it is stabilized, a specialized membrane domain for continued axoglial communication is created. This initial contact stimulate a number of molecular rearrangements in the future myelinating cell, including the association of the tyrosine-kinase fyn with lipid-rich membrane microdomains [135], the suppression of RhoA activity [136], the local enrichment of phosphoinositides in the glial membrane, as PIP2 and PIP3 [137-139], the localization and activity of polarity proteins change [140, 141] and reorganization of cytoskeletal.

Myelin lipids have a high lateral mobility and the cholesterol content is likely to limit the affecting intracellular membrane's fluidity, thereby its trafficking and myelin compartmentalization. The compaction of multiple membrane layers progresses from the abaxonal layers toward the inner tongue with a delay of two to three wraps behind the leading edge [139], allowing the growing sheath to expand underneath the previous layer. This compaction requires specialized adhesive proteins and the removal of molecules that prevent compaction. Initially, the intracellular surface of the glial membrane is inhibitory to tight appositions owing to highly charged phospholipids, such as PIP2. However, negatively charged membrane surfaces attract basic proteins MBP [142]. MBP is abundant (8% by mass) and shows a high affinity to PIP2 [143]. By neutralizing membrane phospholipids, MBP pulls together two bilayers similar to a zipper [144], forming a the major dense line that allows myelin to grow [145]. Oligodendrocytes that lack MBP fail to form compact myelin, while peripheral myelination can occur without the incorporation of MBP because seems to be compensated for by the basic intracellular domain of P0 [146] and by protein 2 (P2/Pmp2) [147].



Figure 9. Schematic model of the differentiation of a committed oligodendrocyte progenitor cell (OPC) into a mature myelinating oligodendrocyte. *Adapted from Nave et al*, 2014 [148].

Lipids in myelin

Myelin is a concentrically laminated membrane structure surrounding an axon around [149]. The myelin lamella is formed by fusion of the apposed inner leaflets of the plasma membrane in glial cells, with no intervening cytoplasm. Myelin provides the structural basis for saltatory action potential propagation, which accelerates nerve conduction 20–100-fold compared with nonmyelinated axons of the same diameter [148].

The myelin membrane originates from and is a part of the oligodendroglial cells in the central nervous system (CNS: brain and spinal cord) and the Schwann cells in the peripheral nervous system (PNS: nerves). In the CNS one oligodendrocyte makes myelinate multiple segments on many axons, while in the PNS one Schwann cell forms a single myelin sheath. Although some molecular or morphological differences, the basic sheath arrangement, characteristics and function between peripheral and central myelin is essentially the same.

A myelinated axon is interrupted by non-myelinated regions, called nodes of Ranvier, and can be divided in four distinct domains, node (N), paranode (PN), juxtaparanode (JXP) and internode (INT) (Fig. 10). At the nodes of Ranvier, Neurofascin 186 (Nf-186) supports the clustering of Na⁺

channels, that regulate electrical impulse conduction. The nodal Na⁺ channels are separated from the juxtaparanodal K⁺ channels via the paranode, where Neurofascin 155 (Nf-155) binds tightly to the axonal complex of Contactin and Contactin-associated protein (Caspr). At the juxtaparanode, clustered K⁺ channels are associated to Caspr-2 and Contactin-2.



Figure 10. Schematic of node of Ranvier organization. Adapted from Podbielska et al, 2013 [150].

One of the biochemical characteristics distinguishing myelin from other biological membranes is its high lipid-to-protein ratio, where lipids representing 80% of its dry weight [151]. The lipids are assembled with myelin-specific membrane proteins: myelin proteolipid protein PLP), an intrinsic (integral) membrane protein, myelin basic protein (MBP) an extrinsic (peripheral) membrane protein, myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), and 2'3'-cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase (CNP).

The three main classes of lipids comprising CNS myelin are cholesterol, sphingolipids and phospholipids with a constant molar proportion of 2:1:2 [152].

Substance	Myelin		White matter	Grey matter	Whole brain
	Human	\mathbf{Rat}	Human	Human	Rat
Protein	30.0	29.5	39.0	55.3	56.9
Lipid	70.0	70.5	54.9	32.7	37.0
Cholesterol	27.7	27.3	27.5	22.0	23.0
Cerebroside	22.7	23.7	19.8	5.4	14.6
Sulfatide	3.8	7.1	5.4	1.7	4.8
Total galactolipid	27.5	31.5	26.4	7.3	21.3
Ethanolamine phosphatides	15.6	16.7	14.9	22.7	19.8
Phosphatidylcholine	11.2	11.3	12.8	26.7	22.0
Sphingomyelin	7.9	3.2	7.7	6.9	3.8
Phosphatidylserine	4.8	7.0	7.9	8.7	7.2
Phosphatidylinositol	0.6	1.2	0.9	2.7	2.4
Plasmalogens	12.3	14.1	11.2	8.8	11.6
Total phospholipid	43.1	44.0	45.9	69.5	57.6

Table 1. Comparison of the human and rat brain composition. Protein and lipid values are given in percentage of the dry weight; everything else in total lipid weight percentage. *Adapted from Quales et al*, 2002 [153].

The myelin membrane contains a high level of two galactosphingolipids, galactosylceramide (GalCer) and 3-O-sulfogalactosylceramide (sulfatide), account for about 20 and 5 % of myelin lipids respectively [154]. How described in the above sections, the synthesis of these galactosphingolipids involves two sequential steps (Fig. 11), the addition of galactose from UDP-galactose (UDP-Gal) to ceramide, catalyzed by the UDP-galactose:ceramide galactosyltransferase (CGT) and the subsequent addition of the sulfate group by the enzyme 3[']-phosphoadenosine-5[']-phosphosulfate:cerebroside sulfotransferase (CST) [155]. Galactosylceramides and sulfatides with long chain fatty acid moieties, in particular 24:0 and 24:1 fatty acids, are the most typical myelin lipids [156].



Figure 11. Structure and biosynthetic pathway of sulfatide, the major sulfoglycolipid in the nervous system. 3-O-sulfogalactosylceramide is highly heterogeneous in its fatty acid composition. The main fatty acids found in mature CNS myelin are long chain fatty acids (24:0 and 24:1), including a significant amount of 2-hydroxylated fatty acids. Sulfatide synthesis requires the addition of galactose from UDP-galactose (UDP-Gal) to ceramide, catalyzed by the UDP-galactose:ceramide galactosyltransferase (CGT, EC 2.4.1.45, encoded by the ugt8 gene), and the subsequent addition of the sulfate group by the enzyme 3'-phosphoadenosine-5'-phosphosulfate:cerebroside sulfotransferase (CST, EC 2.8.2.11, encoded by the gal3st1 gene).

The essential role of sphingolipids, in particular GalCer and sulfatide, in myelin structure has been studied using animal models lacking the enzymes responsible for their synthesis.

CerS2 null mice have greatly reduced levels of sphingolipids with very long chain fatty acyl chains (C22:0-C24:0) and a massive decrease in galactosylceramides and sulfatides in myelin [157]. Nevertheless, CerS2 null mice form relatively normal myelin with mild structural defects, such as focal detachments of individual or groups of myelin lamellae.

CGT knock-out mice, that completely lack GalCer or sulfatide, able to form myelin with an apparently normal structure with normal major dense and intraperiod line periodicity [158]; this could be due to a partial compensation of the loss of these galactolipids by synthesizing 2-hydroxylated GlcCer, usually not present in myelin. Despite the presence of compact myelin, these animals exhibit tremor, splaying of the hind limbs and ataxic locomotion that worsens progressively, resulting in death of most animals by the third month of age [159]. In fact, they present disruption of nerve conduction with an action potential decrease respect a wild type mice [159] and, a more detailed analysis of the structure of their myelin revealed ultrastructural abnormalities; the CNS myelin sheaths are thinner, nodal length is increased, lateral loops are widely spaced, the tight junctions are destroyed, suggesting that the formation of these junctions may be dependent on the presence of this lipid. In addition, CGT (-/-) mice exhibit a significant increase in cellularity in the spinal cord [160, 161] and a decrease of proliferation and survival rate of oligodendrocyte precursors. In the other hand, the PNS myelin in the knock-out mice appears normal suggesting that galactolipids might be less critical in the formation and maintenance of PNS myelin sheath structure [158].

CST (-/-) mice cannot synthesize sulfatide, while the levels of GalCer, other glycolipids, and phospholipids are not significantly altered [162]. These mice produce compact myelin, even if it is thinner than that of normal mice and shows alterations in the paranodal structure similar to those of CGT knock-out mice. The phenotype of these mice is similar but milder than that of CGT (-/-) mice in terms of age of onset, life span and severity of symptoms and they survive for more than 1 year [163]. CST-deficient mice are born healthy but start displaying hind limb weakness around 6 weeks of age, followed by pronounced tremor and progressive ataxia. Electron microscopy analysis of myelinated nerve fibers of these mice, revealed disorganized termination of the lateral loops at the node of Ranvier and deteriorated clusterization of Na⁺ and K⁺ channels [164]. These ion channels alterations are present both in CNS and in PNS in mutant mice and are accompanied by an altered distribution of proteins involved in the structure of nodes, such as Caspr, contactin and neurofascin155 (NF155) [164]. In addition, in these animals is observed an increased number of oligodendrocytes and oligodendrocytes mature earlier and in greater number [165, 166]. This increase is determined by an increased proliferation and by a reduced rate of apoptotic death in the oligodendrocytic lineage cells [166].

1-month-old CGT mutant mice form abundant myelin but it is characterized by structural features associated with sheath immaturity such as uncompacted and redundant myelin profiles [158, 159, 167]. In contrast, the same age CST mutant mice showed no difference in the frequency of redundant myelin and revealed only a modest increase in the frequency of uncompacted myelin, suggesting that myelin development is relatively normal. The difference between the CGT and CST mutants indicates that GalCer is critical for myelin development while sulfatide is less essential at early stages of maturation [168]. Sulfatide, therefore, seems to play a role in maintaining the integrity of the major dense line, either directly or indirectly by helping to organize the plasma membrane components responsible for intra-myelin stability and adhesion [169].

The structure-specific roles seem to be linked to the ability of GalCer and sulfatide to form and to stabilize specific lateral domains in the membrane of myelin forming-cells and in the myelin sheath [154]. In particular, GalCer- and sulfatide-rich domains in the oligodendrocyte membranes regulate the correct sorting, trafficking, co-clustering and lateral distribution of the major myelin proteins [170]. While in the early stages of myelin formation galactolipid levels are absent or very low and only a few of the typical myelin proteins are associated with lipid rafts, during the mid-myelination stage, GalCer and sulfatide are synthesized at detectable levels and the PLP and MOG proteins tend to localize in lipid rafts; later, in the final stages of myelination, myelin- MAG and MBP are also translocated into lipid rafts [171-173]. Recent studies have demonstrated a differential involvement of GalCer-rich and sulfatide-rich membrane domains in modulating the function of this specific myelin proteins, in particular has been analyzed the effect of myelin galactolipids on the lateral organization and membrane dynamics of two myelin proteins, PLP and MBP [171].

The differential involvement of GalCer-rich and sulfatide-rich membrane domains in modulating the function of this specific myelin proteins has been studied by separately overexpressing CGT or CST on a galactolipid-null background, using the rat immature

oligodendrocyte cell line OLN-93, that does not produce galactolipids [154]. This study revealed that membrane association and dynamics (as lateral motility mobility in intact cells) of MBP is ordered by GalCer, while those of PLP are regulated by sulfatide (Fig. 12). This clearly indicates the importance of the formation of distinct lipid membrane domains in the myelin membrane for the lateral organization of specific myelin proteins as MBP and PLP.



Figure 12. Association with specific sulfatide-rich domains regulates the function of PLP. The membrane association and dynamics of PLP are sulfatide-dependent while those of MBP are GalCerdependent. *Adapted from Grassi et al*, 2015 [154].

Additionally, GalCer and sulfatide present in the apposed extracellular surfaces of the myelin sheath can do trans-interactions and form specialized "glycosynapse", which stabilized the myelin wrapping [174, 175]. Moreover, for long-term axon-myelin stability is required another oligosaccharide mediated trans interactions between the gangliosides GD1a and GT1b, in specialized domains of the axonal surface, and MAG [176], whose correct localization in the myelin membrane, is in turn regulated by the association with galactolipid rich domains [173] (Fig. 13).



Figure 13. Glycolipid-enriched membrane domains in myelin. Glycolipid–glycolipid and glycolipid–protein interactions play multiple roles in myelin formation, maintenance and functioning but also in axon-myelin stability and communication. GalCer and sulfatide on opposing surfaces of the myelin wrap interact with each other through *trans* carbohydrate–carbohydrate interactions forming a "glycosynapse" causing transmembrane signaling which results in clustering of membrane domains and loss of cytoskeleton integrity, leading to compaction and formation of mature myelin. On the other hand, GD1a and GT1b gangliosides, enriched in axonal lipid rafts, interact with MAG resulting in transmembrane signaling. MAG can also interact with Nogo-R1 (NgR1) which in turn interacts with signaling molecules p75/TROY and LINGO-1, leading to RhoA activation and axon outgrowth inhibition. Lateral interaction of GD1a and GT1b with p75 is important for the organization of NgR1 complex. *Adapted from Aureli et al, 2015 [117]*.

The available information indicate that GalCer is primarily involved in myelin formation and maturation, while sulfatide contributes to the long term stability of myelin structure, in particularly affecting the integrity of the nodal and paranodal regions [145].

In addition to cerebroside, the other major myelin lipids are cholesterol, phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylethanolamine, much of the latter are plasmalogens and there is less sphingomyelin. Minor glycosphingolipid components (0.1% to 0.3%) include gangliosides, especially GM₁
and GM4 [177]. The role of plasmalogens in membranes has not been elucidated, but they seem to play a role in membrane fusion processes and membrane dynamics. In fact, in knockout mouse for Dhapat, a peroxisomal enzyme essential for plasmalogen synthesis, reduced CNS myelination is observed together with abnormal paranodal structure and reduced corpus callosum conduction velocity [151].

Demyelination Process in Multiple Sclerosis

The term "demyelination" indicates a loss of myelin with a consequent axonal damage, determining impairment of the conduction of signals. According to pathogenesis, demyelinating diseases of the CNS can be classified into several categories: demyelination due to inflammatory processes, viral demyelination, demyelination caused by acquired metabolic derangements, hypoxic–ischaemic forms of demyelination and demyelination caused by focal compression [178]. MS is the most common human demyelinating disease it is thought to be caused by the interaction of multiple genetic and environmental factors. The exact cause of multiple sclerosis still remains elusive, but it established that Multiple sclerosis is an immune-mediated disease in which the body's immune system attacks the CNS. In the most widely accepted hypothesis concerning MS pathogenesis, CD4+ Th1 cells release cytokines and mediators of inflammation that may cause tissue damage, CD4+ Th2 cells may be involved in modulation of these effects and, as recent evidence suggests, Th17 cells, CD8+ effector T cells and CD4+, CD25+ regulatory T cells play a prominent role in MS immunopathology [179].

Data collected from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) studies suggest the he following immunopathological events: (1) initial T cell priming, (2) activation phase in the periphery, (3) migration of the pro-inflammatory T cells and monocytes across the blood-brain barrier (BBB), (4) amplification of local inflammation and activation of resident antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as microglia, (5) invasion of CNS parenchyma, resulting in damaging of oligodendrocytes, myelin sheath and axons [150, 179, 180]. The T cell priming occurs within systemic immune sites and it started by myelin antigens sensitization, among which myelin lipids. There are two different mechanisms for lipid antigen uptake, depending on antigen origin and its structure: lipids containing longer alkyl chains are transported to late endosomes, where CD1b molecules, specialized for binding long chain lipids, are located [181-183]; lipids constituted by with alkyl chains whit multiple unsaturation sites or shorter saturated

tails are directed to early or recycling endosomes, where CD1c and CD1a molecules are located [184, 185]. Activated APCs, within secondary lymphoid organs, induce the activation and expansion of myelin-specific T cells, that consequently circulate searching for their specific antigens to become re-activated [186]. Upon acrossing the BBB, via interactions between adhesion molecules found on the surface of lymphocytes and endothelial cells [70], the autoreactive CD4⁺ T cells initiate the local pro-inflammatory cascade. In addition, a variety of effector mechanisms are induced: antibody-mediated cytotoxicity, oxygen and nitrogen radicals, pro-inflammatory cytokines and apoptosis-mediating molecules that damage oligodendrocytes, myelin sheaths and axons. The results of the local inflammation are the characteristic demyelinated plaques and astrocytic activation (gliosis), the are the major pathological hallmarks of the disease [187].

In MS, the demyelination is associated with disorganization of paranodal and juxtaparanodal domains: the paranodal and juxtaparanodal proteins become diffusely distributed along denuded axons and the aggregates disappear [188, 189]. Early alterations include the overlapping of Neurofascin (Nf)-155-positive paranodal structures with juxtanodal Kv1.2 channels adjacent to actively demyelinating white matter lesions associated with injured axons [190]. Consequently, nodal sodium channels are then directly adjacent to juxtaparanodal potassium channels, leading to impaired saltatory conduction of action potentials (Fig 14). These data suggest that paranodal junctions might be the initial site of demyelination [150].



Figure 14. Characteristics of the demyelination process. Demyelination destroys the paranode and sodium channels migrate laterally. Following this is sodium channels (Nav) redistribution and re-expression of the immature isoform of sodium channels, Nav1.2. Persisting currents may cause conduction block and calcium overload, leading to axon injury and eventually loss. *Adapted from Podbielska et al*, 2013 [150].

Recent reports have suggested that some of the myelin-specific lipids may be key contributors to the pathogenic mechanism of MS. Individuals with MS disease are reported to have different myelin lipid compositions and elevated levels of anti-sulfatide Ab in biological fluids compared with healthy individuals [191]. Additionally, recent reports suggest that sulfatide might be a target autoantigen and abnormally released sulfatide from disrupted myelin could act as a glial activator [189]. Despite this insight into pathophysiology, the cause of MS remains unclear and definitive treatment of this frequent and chronic disease still obscure.

Therapeutic approaches and remyelination promotion

Remyelination, the phenomenon by which new myelin sheaths are generated around axons, is a common repair mechanism following an insult to the nervous system. The development of therapies aimed to promote remyelination in conditions in which axons are demyelinated, such as in multiple sclerosis, is an important therapeutic goal. Theoretically, remyelination is beneficial in people with MS for its potential to restore myelin structure, recover neuronal conduction deficits and it could help to protect denuded axons from degeneration.

Myelination begins with OPCs differentiating into oligodendrocytes, followed by their maturation into myelinating oligodendrocytes [192]. In developing zebrafish, myelination is rapid and oligodendrocytes produce myelin only during a short hour window, after this time, no new myelin sheaths are made by these oligodendrocytes. Likewise, in toxin-mediated demyelination rodent models, only newly differentiated oligodendrocytes formed from OPCs are able to remyelination and pre-existing mature oligodendrocytes do not remyelinate [193, 194].

In higher vertebrates, it is not still clear at what point after differentiation oligodendrocytes can no longer product new myelin sheaths. If also in these organisms, the oligodendrocytes have myelinogenic potential for only a few hours, there is a very brief window of opportunity for remyelination; consequently, remyelination mechanism probably requires ongoing oligodendrocyte differentiation. In this scenario, events that slow remyelination or oligodendrocyte differentiation, such as inflammation, could block the myelin repair, because oligodendrocytes become unable to myelinate axons.

While in murine models, remyelination is rapid, extensive and associated with functional recovery [195], in MS patients this mechanism is highly variable: extensive in some cases, absent in others [196-198]. In MS subjects, the presence of extrinsic inhibitors in lesions, insufficient pro-regenerative factors and an impaired intrinsic capacity in oligodendrocyte lineage cells could be some of the reasons leading a not efficient remyelination mechanism. Remyelination failure can be divide in two distinct phases: (1) impaired recruitment of OPCs into lesions and (2) an inability to differentiate or mature into remyelinating oligodendrocytes [199, 200]. For example, CSPGs (chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans) inhibit the recruitment of OPCs by attenuating their migration and harming the morphological differentiation of oligodendrocytes [201, 202]. However, oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination in culture are facilitated by achieving a sufficient OPC density [203], so the incapacity of OPCs to differentiate in MS plaques lesions could be related to an insufficient density within those lesions. Differentiation failure occurs also because chronically demyelinated MS lesions are associated with a low density of mature oligodendrocytes [204, 205].

Strategies that help to promote the proliferation and/or recruitment of OPCs within the demyelinated lesion in the CNS is an important therapeutic goal [206]. Several studies have

identified compounds that promote the recruitment, survival and differentiation of oligodendrocytes that could lead to an improved remyelination (Fig. 15). Benztropine, clemastine, quetiapine and GSK239512S target either muscarinic acetylcholine receptors (such as M1) and/or histamine receptors (such as H1 and H3). Domperidone elevates prolactin levels, which improves remyelination through prolactin receptor (PRLR). Other medications act through specific nuclear receptors: clobetasol activates glucocorticoid receptor (GR), IRX4204 is a retinoid X like receptor (RXR) agonist, liothyronine stimulates thyroid hormone receptor (THR) and vitamin D activates vitamin D receptor (VDR). XAV939 and indomethacin both attenuate inhibitory WNT– β -catenin signalling. AXIN, axis inhibition protein; FZD, Frizzled.



Figure 15. Drugs that affect myelin reformation and are prospective medications for repair in multiple sclerosis. *Adapted from Plemel et al*, 2017 [206].

One additional factor that severely affects remyelination is the presence of an immune response following demyelination. The robust clearance of myelin debris is crucial following the degenerative phase [136, 207]; it was observed that when the myelin debris clearance is prevented owing to an impaired phagocyte response, then remyelination is slowed [208-210]. T cells, macrophages or microglia can damage OPCs and oligodendrocytes through mechanisms that include the release of free radicals, granzyme B and inflammatory cytokines [211]. In the other hand, immune cells also can produce a variety of growth factors that promote OPC recruitment and differentiation [212].

As mentioned above, in MS activated myelin-reactive T cells are recruited leading to the activation of microglia and to the recruitment of circulating macrophages. Fingolimod, a structural analog of sphingosine, is converted *in vivo* to fingolimod-P, a structural analog of S1P, which acts as a nonselective agonist for S1P1, S1P3, S1P4, and S1P5 receptors, causing the irreversible internalization and degradation of bound S1P receptors; this preventing their recycling back to the cell surface and the consequently recruitment of T cells.

An alternative therapeutic approach is the use of CNS reactive antibodies to promote remyelination [213, 214]. LINGO1, a membrane-bound protein, is one of the numerous molecules present in the lesion environment that have been identified to be impediments to OPC differentiation and thus potential remyelination inhibitors. Overexpression of LINGO1 in oligodendrocytes, axons [215] or astrocytes inhibits oligodendrocyte maturation via homotypic *trans*-interaction ^[216], meaning that LINGO1 in the lesion microenvironment can interact with oligodendrocyte LINGO1 to stall remyelination. Neutralization of LINGO-1 using anti-LINGO IgG antibodies has been found to promote remyelination in several animal models [217].

Another group of identified remyelination promoting antibodies, including rHIgM22, have natural autoreactive antibodies (NAbs) features and they are generally of the IgM isotype. These antibodies react to self antigens and, bind them with rather low affinity but high avidity, compared to conventional antibodies [218]. In addition, all remyelination promoting antibodies with identified antigens are polyreactive, as a result of their flexible antigen-binding site. Several of these monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) recognize not only protein antigens but also at least one or multiple sphingolipids. Since only the hydrophilic carbohydrate moiety of the sphingolipids is exposed to the cell surface, it is detectable by antibodies, therefore, it is truthful

not consider the lipid backbone as essential part of the antigen. Currently the most widely accepted hypothesis concerning the remyelination-promoting antibodies mAbs is the lipid-raft hypothesis: mAbs targeting SLs stabilize existing rafts or stimulate the formation of new lipid rafts at the plasma membrane, thereby enhancing the effects of extracellular stimuli via existing cellular signaling pathways [219]. The discovery of these molecules highlights a number of promising approaches to improve remyelination for people with MS.

Proposed mechanism of action of remyelination-promoting IgM

All identified remyelination-promoting antibodies have germline origin or near germline with few somatic mutations, thus all cardinal features of NAbs and represent a subclass of NAbs. The discovery of natural antibodies for CNS reparative was serendipity. The first successful attempt to stimulate remyelination using NAbs was performed in the Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV)-induced model of demyelination by Rodriguez et al. in 1987 [220]. To test the hypothesis of virus-induced autoimmunity TMEV-infected SJL mice were immunized with spinal cord homogenates (SCH) of normal mice in order to stimulate a polyclonal antibody response directed against a variety of CNS antigens, including myelin components. Instead of an expected exacerbation of the disease course, mice immunized with SCH showed four-times' higher levels of remyelination than non-immunized mice. These results demonstrated for the first-time a beneficial effect of antibodies in stimulating CNS remyelination. In particular, two monoclonal mouse antibodies of the IgM isotype (SCH79.08 and SCH94.03) proved effective in promoting remyelination [221]. and both antibodies were able to target mature oligodendrocytes (OLs) in vitro. In order to identify monoclonal remyelination-promoting antibodies of human origin from sera of patients with monoclonal gammopathies, cerebellar slice cultures were used in addition to cultured OLs for preliminary screening [214]. This resulted in the identification of two serum-derived human remyelinationpromoting antibodies, sHIgM22 and sHIgM46, then engineered to make a recombinant antibody (rHIgM22 and rHIgM46) [48,49]. rHIgM22 has recently been approved by the FDA for Phase I, multi-center, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation study designed to evaluate safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics, and immunogenicity of single IV administrations of rHIgM22 in patients with all clinical presentations of MS.

Although to date the mechanism of remyelination is not entirely known, what is established is that rHIgM22 is capable to access to the brain. It has been generally accepted that IgMs with a molecular weight of close to 1 million are too large to cross the blood brain barrier (BBB) from the circulation to enter the CNS ([222]. Direct evidence of IgM access to the brain comes from a MRI study using antibodies labeled with ultra-small superparamagnetic iron oxide particles (USPIO) [223]. While MRI imaging showed a co-localization of rHIgM22 with demyelinating lesions in mice spinal cords in Theiler's virus- infected mice, no IgM accumulation in the CNS was apparent in non-infected animals or animals without demyelination. In addition, dysfunction of the BBB is a typical feature of MS [224, 225] therefore, it is plausible to accept IgM access to demyelinated brain lesions as well in the human situation.

Despite mouse and human remyelination-promoting IgMs stimulate repair in TMEV- and lysolecithin-demyelinated mice [214, 221, 226-230], the precise mechanism of action is still unknown. Several pieces of evidence suggest that the rHIgM22 inhibits apoptotic signaling in OPCs and the differentiation of them to mature (MBP+, MOG+) OLs in vitro [231], promoting OPC survival and proliferation [232, 233]. The signaling complex responsible for the antiapoptotic effect consists of platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha (PDGF α R), integrin avb3 and the Src family kinase (SFK) Lyn [231] (Fig. 16). PDGFaR is a phenotypic marker of OPCs [234] and retinal astrocytes [235] and its ligand, PDGF, is produced by neurons [236] and astrocytes as PDGF-AA [237] and -AB dimers [238]. Since OPC-signaling complex responsible for rHIgM22-mediated actions including PDGF receptor [231], this suggests an involvement of PDGF. Literature data shows that PDGF stimulates OPC proliferation and survival in vivo [239-241] and in vitro [241-244], but does not mediate survival in cells of the OL-lineage that are more mature than OPCs. Most likely PDGF is required for rHIgM22mediated inhibition of apoptotic signaling and differentiation in isolated OPC cultures. In fact, rHIgM22-mediated OPC proliferation is detectable only in mixed glial cultures (cultures containing substantial amounts of astrocytes, microglia and OPCs) but not in highly enriched OPC populations [233]; secreted astrocytic or microglial factors, or direct cellular contact between OPCs and other glia seems to be essential for the proliferative response. Considering that PDGF is secreted by astrocytes and possibly microglia [237, 238] but not by oligodendrocyte-lineage cells, it demonstrates an involvement of cells other than OLs in IgMmediated OPC proliferation and, possibly, remyelination. It appears that three cell types (OPCs, microglia and astrocytes) are required for IgM stimulated proliferation of OPCs in vitro. The growth factor PDGF and potentially other secreted microglial and astrocytic factors are important mediators for this effect.

Although it is clear that the rHIgM22 promotes OPC survival and proliferation, the actual target and cellular type involved in rHIgM22-mediated action are still under investigation. Several pieces of evidence suggest that the antigen recognized by this antibody might be a plasma membrane lipid and that the binding target of rHIgM22 could be associated with detergent-resistant membranes (DRM)/lipid rafts organization [245, 246]. This hypothesis is based on the observation that the well known anti-sulfatide antibody O4 and rHIgM22 have a similar binding pattern to CNS tissues [245], and that binding of rHIgM22 is abolished in CNS tissue sections from CST (-/-) mice [246], suggesting that likely sulfatide might represent a critical player in rHIgM22 biological activity.



Figure 16. Proposed mechanism of action of rHIgM22. Binding of rHIgM22 to the surface of oligodendrocyte determines a reorganization of the membrane, favoring the interaction of Lyn, integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$ and PDGF α R. IgM-stimulated activation of Lyn, with consequent activation of ERK 1/2 determines the inhibition of the apoptotic pathway and of OPC differentiation. Other factors (e.g. PDGF) might be required to promote the proliferation of these cells. *Adapted from Watzlawik et al*, 2013 [219].

AIM OF THE STUDY

Treatments for MS have come a long way over the last two decades. All of these drugs act by reducing the immune attack, which causes inflammation and damage to the myelin coating around nerve cells in the brain and spinal cord. Although these drugs can reduce damage to myelin, they can't arrest it completely or repair the injury. Although the body, via remyelination, can replace damaged myelin, this process is impaired in MS. Remyelination, the physiological response after most demyelinating conditions, is a regenerative process whereby demyelinated axons are ensheathed with new myelin sheaths; it occurs through the activity of OPCs that migrate into damage sites [199]. This repair process is characteristic of the early disease phase of MS [247]; however, in late phase of MS, remyelination seems to be limited by oligodendrocyte density, which could be the product of a deficient oligodendrocyte recruitment [200]. When the remyelination fails, the axon, devoid of its myelin sheath, undergoes several physiological changes, resulting in axonal dysfunction, degeneration, and loss of sensory and motor function [248]. Treatments which promote remyelination would offer the potential to delay, prevent or reverse disability and a great deal of research is exploring this.

One of the therapeutic approaches that is currently being developed to improve the remyelination involves the use of CNS reactive antibodies to promote remyelination [227]. One of these antibodies is rHIgM22, a recombinant form of a human IgM, which is able to bind to myelin and to the surface of mature, O4-positive oligodendrocytes in vitro [214], to enhance remyelination in three different mouse models of demyelination [214, 226, 227, 249, 250] and to promote OPC proliferation. Recently, this antibody has completed a Phase 1a/b clinical trial in adults with both stable and active MS [251]. Despite the encouraging clinical data, the exact mechanism of action of rHIgM22 remains to be elucidated.

The aim of this study is to identify the molecular binding target(s) of rHIgM22 and to identify the target cell(s) within CNS, in order to better understand the *in vivo* remyelination capability of rHIgM22. The binding target of rHIgM22 in oligodendrocytes and myelin could be represented by a complex that includes glycolipids, likely sulfatide, and could be associated with plasma membrane lipid rafts. In fact, the anti-sulfatide antibody O4 and rHIgM22 have a similar binding pattern to CNS tissues [245], and in both cases binding is abolished in CNS tissue sections from CST knock-out mice [246]; this suggests that the antigen(s) recognized by rHIgM22 could be a CST-sulfated antigen present in myelin and on the surface of differentiated OLs.

In addition, rHIgM22 has been shown to bind directly to differentiated OLs but binding to immature OPCs has not been detected, therefore no rHIgM22 effects have been observed in these cultures [227, 252]. Since OPCs apparently do not respond to rHIgM22, and differentiated oligodendrocytes are unlikely to be sufficient for substantial remyelination, it is likely that other cells are involved in remyelinating processes. Indeed, rHIgM22 seems to induced OPC proliferation by activating PDGFαR in mixed glial cultures, but not in isolated OPCs, suggesting that the stimulation of OPC proliferation by rHIgM22 requires factors produced by astrocytes [253] and/or microglia [233].

Defining the identity of the binding partners, the molecular organization of their membrane microenvironment and to identify the cell types with which rHIgM22 interacts should greatly contribute to the elucidation of the signaling mechanisms underlying the biological activity of rHIgM22. In addition, the characterization of the mechanism and the factors involved in the proliferation, recruitment, and differentiation of oligodendroglial progenitor cells is key in designing strategies to improve remyelination in demyelinating disorders. This, in turn, would allow to gain a better knowledge regarding the molecular mechanisms involved in MS etiology thus allowing to define new potential therapeutic targets.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials – Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺-free HBSS, D-Glucose, BSA fraction V, trypsin, HEPES, phosphatebuffered saline (PBS), poly-D-lysine, poly-L-lysine, Na₃VO₄, NaOH, Na₂HPO₄, CHCl₃, CH₃OH, polyisobuthylmethacrylate, O-phenylenediamine (OPD), H₂O₂, citric acid, HCl, sucrose, Tris-HCl, DOPC (1,2-Dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine), n-octyl-β-D-glucoside, bovine serum albumin (BSA) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich; DMEM:F12, StemPro Neural Supplement, StemPro Accutase were purchased from Invitrogen); DNaseI from Roche Spa; EGF, PDGF-AA, FGF-2 were purchased from *Peprotech*; NH₄OH was purchased from Riedel-de HaënTM; penicillin/streptomycin, DMEM High glucose, bovine fetal serum (FBS), glutamine were purchased from *Euroclone Spa*; MgSO₄, CaCl₂, 4-Methoxybenzaldehyde (anisaldehyde), HPTLC and Silica gel 60 (0.040-0.063 mm) were purchased from Merck; CH₃COOH was purchased from Fluka; HPA sensor chips and HBS-N Buffer were purchased from GE Healthcare Srl. Chrompure Human IgM was purchased from Jackson Immuno Research, Inc. and HRP-conjugated anti-Human IgM µ-chain antibody was purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc. Pure galactosylceramide (GalCer), sulfatide, phosphatidylcholine (PC), phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidylinositol (PI) were purchased from Avanti Polar Lipids; DOPC, sphingomyelin (SM), and phosphatidic acid (PA) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. Lysosulfatide was purchased from Matreya. Gangliosides (GM3, GM2, GM1, GD3, GD1a, GD1b, GT1b), glucosylceramide (GlcCer), glucosylsphingosine (GlcSph), and lactosylceramide (LacCer) were synthesized or purified in our laboratories.

Animal specimens – For the experiments reported in this thesis, the sources of animal specimens were:

• wild type (WT) C57BL/6N mice and acid sphingomyelinase knock-out (ASM(-/-)) mutant C57BL/6N mice [254], used for brain lipid extraction, myelin purification and preparation of mixed glial cultures;

• primary cultured rat oligodendrocytes positive for rHIgM22 staining (kindly prepared by Dr. Yana Zorina, Acorda Therapeutics, Ardsley, NY);

• primary cultured rat microglia [255], kindly provided by Dr. Michela Matteoli, Department of Medical Biotechnology and Translational Medicine, University of Milano;

• hemibrains from wild type and cerebroside sulfotransferase (CST) (+/-) and (-/-) mice [162], kindly provided by Dr. Xianlin Han, Sanford-Burnham Medical Research Institute, FL, USA.

Mixed glial cell (MGC) culture – A primary mixed glial culture, composed of astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia, is obtained when newborn disaggregated cerebral brain cells from rat or mouse are plated at high cell density in serum-supplemented medium [233, 256]. In this culture model, neurons fail to survive and, after one week, mixed glial cell cultures are free of neurons, meningeal cells, and fibroblasts. MGC cultures were prepared according to Watzlawik et al [233]. Briefly, the hemispheres from P2 mice brains were minced with a surgical blade and then incubated for 30' at 37°C in 0.05% trypsin in modified HBSS (Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ free HBSS containing 5 g/L D-glucose, 3 g/L BSA fraction V, 20 mM HEPES, 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin). Following the addition of MgSO₄ and DNase I, the sample was centrifuged at 200 g at 8°C for 5 minutes and resuspended in modified HBSS. The tissue was then further dissociated by trituration through a sterile flame narrowed glass pipette, centrifuged at 200 g at 8°C for 10 minutes, resuspended in culture medium and plated on Petri dishes or T75 flasks coated with poly-D-lysine (25 µg/mL). The cells were cultured in DMEM high glucose containing 10% heat inactivated FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 µg/mL streptomycin, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, and 2 mM glutamine and the culture medium is changed every 3/4 days. With this protocol it is possible to obtain cultures with about 60-70% of astrocytes, 30-40% of OPCs, and less than 3% of microglial cells.

Oligodendrocytes isolation—Oligodendrocytes were harvested, through shaking procedure, from 8-10 days old mixed glial cell cultures, prepared as described in the previous paragraph, when the cells were mostly immature, containing progenitor cells and immature oligodendrocytes. Briefly, microglia and dead cells are removed with a 30-minute shake at 37°C, 150 rpm in Corning® LSETM Benchtop Shaking Incubator. After an 18-20 hour shaking to detach oligodendrocytes, the cell suspension was plated twice on untreated, non-TC, dishes to further remove microglia and astrocytes, before being centrifuged for 10 minutes at 8°C, 850 rpm. The surnatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in OPC proliferative medium (DMEM:F12 1:1 containing 2 mM glutamine, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 μ g/mL FGF-2). Media was replaced every 3/4 days and cells were carried using Accutase. The cells obtained with this method are mostly immature oligodendrocytes, differentiation medium containing 40 mM T3 was added to the cultured OPCs. Mixed glial cell culture that underwent a shaking procedure

to isolate oligodendrocytes precursors were used maximum three times. After the third time, the adherent layer was represented mostly by astrocytes, thus allowing to collect these cells. The collected cells were then stored at -80°C, before being lyophilized and subjected to lipid extraction. Myelin isolation – Purification of myelin from mouse brain was performed using an optimized version of the protocol described in [257]. Frozen brains from C57BL/6N wild type mice ranging from 2 to 4 months of age were thawed at room temperature (RT) before removing the cerebellum and the meningeal membranes. 50 mg of tissue were suspended in 500 μ L of 0.25 M sucrose in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 and Dounce homogenized (10 strokes, tight) before being centrifuged at 500 g, 4°C for 10 minutes. The supernatant was collected and further centrifuged at 21000 g, 4°C for 10 minutes with Ultra-centrifuge Beckman TL- 100. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in 500 µL of 0.25 M sucrose in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 and then layered on top of 1250 µL of 0.88 M sucrose in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4. After this, the samples were centrifuged at 21000 g, 4°C for 10 minutes to separate the mitochondria from the myelin vesicles. In fact, myelin will float on the surface whereas the denser mitochondria will pellet at the bottom of the tube. The myelin vesicle layer was carefully recovered, resuspended in an equal volume of ice-cold water and then centrifuged at 21000 g, 4°C for 10 minutes. After discarding the supernatant, the pellet was resuspended in 500 µL of 0.25 M sucrose in 10 mM Tris- HCl, pH 7.4, layered on top of 1250 µL of 0.88 M sucrose in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 and centrifuged at 21000 g, 4°C for 10 minutes in order to separate myelin from membrane debris. The myelin layer was carefully recovered, resuspended in an equal volume of ice-cold water and then centrifuged at 21000 g, 4°C for 10 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in 120 µL of icecold water. Protein content was determined with DC protein assays (Bio-Rad).

Sample preparation— Frozen brains from wild type (WT) C57BL/6N mice and acid sphingomyelinase knock-out (ASM(-/-)) mutant C57BL/6N mice were thawed at room temperature (RT). Meninges were removed, the brains were minced with a surgical blade, resuspended in ice-cold water and subjected to sonication. The samples were then Dounce homogenized (10 strokes, tight) before being snap frozen and subsequently lyophilized.

Frozen rHIgM22-positive rat oligodendrocytes were thawed at RT, resuspended in ice-cold water, snap frozen and then lyophilized. Cultured oligodendrocytes were collected after washing the flasks and/or petri dishes twice with PBS containing 1 mM Na₃VO₄. The cells were scraped twice

in PBS containing 1 mM Na₃VO₄ and centrifuged at 3000 rpm, 4°C for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded, the pellet was resuspended in ice-cold water, snap frozen and lyophilized. Myelin, prepared from mouse brain following the procedure described in the previous paragraph, was snap frozen and lyophilized.

Total lipid extraction, phase partitioning and alkali treatment— Lipids from the lyophilized samples were extracted with CHCl₃:CH₃OH:H₂O 20:10:1 (v/v/v) and subjected to a modified twophase Folch's partitioning to obtain the aqueous (Aq. Ph.) and the organic phases (Or. Ph.) [258]. In brief, 1550 μ L of the solvent system were added to the lyophilized samples. The samples were then mixed at 1100 rpm, RT for 15 minutes and centrifuged at 13200 rpm, RT for 15 minutes. The supernatant was collected as Total lipid extract (TLE) and the extraction was repeated again twice by adding the 1550 μ L of the solvent system to the pellets. The pellets were air dried and resuspended in 1M NaOH and incubated overnight at RT before being diluted with water to 0.05M NaOH to allow the determination of the protein content with DC assay. Aliquots of the TLE were then subjected to phase partitioning adding either 20% of water by volume. The samples were then mixed at 1100 rpm, RT for 15 minutes and centrifuged at 13200 rpm, RT for 15 minutes. The Aq. Ph. were recovered, and CH₃OH:H₂O 1:1 (v/v) were added to the organic phase before mixing the samples at 1100 rpm, RT for 15 minutes and centrifuging at 13200 rpm, RT for 15 minutes. The new aqueous phases were recovered and united to the ones previously collected. The organic phases were dried under N₂ flux and resupended in a known volume of CHCl₃:CH₃OH 2:1 (v/v). Aliquots of the organic phases were then subjected to alkali treatment to remove glycerophospholipids [258].

Chromatography

Chromatography is an important biophysical technique that allows the separation, identification, and purification of the components of a mixture for quantitative and qualitative analysis [151]. The word "chromatography", used by Tswett in 1906, derived from the Greek words *chroma* (color) and *graphien* (to write) and it is defined as: "A physical method of separation in which the components to be separated are distributed between two phases, one of which is stationary (stationary phase) while the other (the mobile phase) moves in a definite direction."

There are different types of chromatography but they all work on the same principle; all chromatographic systems have a mobile and a stationary phase: sample is dissolved in the mobile phase, which travels through the stationary phase. Separation is possible because different compounds have different affinities for the mobile and stationary phases, thereby affecting their distribution between the two phases.

Chromatographic methods are classified according to mobile phase, stationary phases, separation mechanism or type of support. The mobile phase may be either a gas (GC, Gas Chromatographic) or liquid (LC, Liquid Chromatographic); the stationary phase may be a liquid or, more usually, a solid. *Table 2* summarizes some of the chromatographic methods that have been developed on the basis of different mobile–stationary phase combinations.

By state of phases and mechanism					
Mobile phase	Stationary phase	Acronym	Mechanism		
Gas	Solid	GSC	Adsorption Chromatography		
	Liquid	GC	Partition Chromatography		
Liquid	Solid	LSC	Adsorption Chromatography		
	Liquid	LC	Partition Chromatography		
Liquid		CE	Electromigration		

By the polarity of phases						
	Stationary phase	Mobile phase				
Normal phase Chromatograpy	More polar	Less polar	LC			
Normal phase Chromatograpy	Less polar	More polar	LC			

By geometry of the separation region			
Planar	2-dimensional		
Chromatograpy			
Column	1-dimensional		
Chromatography			

Table 2. Chromatographic methods.

The chromatographic procedures used to identify the antigen recognize by rHIgM22 are discussed in the next section.

Thin-layer chromatography

Thin layer chromatography (TLC) is the easiest way to analyze the total lipid mixtures extracted from tissues and cultured cells.

In TLC the stationary phase is a thin layer of a solid such silica supported on an inert base such as glass o aluminum foil. The mixture is applied at the bottom of the TLC plate and allowed to dry, then the plate is placed in a closed tank containing solvent (the mobile phase) so that the liquid level is below the spot (Fig. 17).

This method allows to have an economical first information about the possible structure of the separated molecules on the basis of their chromatographic mobility in comparison with standards and of their reactivity to the staining procedures [258, 259].



Figure 17. Development of a TLC plate. An orange spot separates into a red and yellow spot.

TLC Procedure. Lipids and samples were separated using HPTLC plate (silica gel 60 HPTLC, Merck): the samples were spotted on a 3 mm imaginary lane at 1.5 cm from the plate bottom edge and were applied maintaining a 3–5 mm distance. The plate was immersed into the chromatographic solvent system (1 cm deep) and put in a closed tank allowing the solvent to reach the TLC top edge (TLC size, 10×10 cm or 10x20 cm). Chromatography was carried out at room temperature in the range of 20–25°C. Depending on the samples to be analyzed, the following solvent systems have been used:

• CHCl₃:CH₃OH:H₂O 110:40:6 (v/v/v) for the analysis of pure sulfatide, lysosulfatide, neutral glycolipids, pure phospholipids, total lipid extracts, organic phases and methanolized organic phases;

• CHCl₃:CH₃OH:0.2% CaCl₂ in H₂O 50:42:1 (v/v/v) for the analysis of pure gangliosides and aqueous phases;

• CHCl₃:CH₃OH:CH₃CH(OH)CH₃:H₂O 70:20:5:3 (v/v/v/v) for the analysis of column chromatography fractions;

After separation, lipids were detected by spraying the TLC plates with Anisaldehyde reagent for the general detection of lipids.



Figure 18. Schematic representation of the analytical pathways for complex lipids TLC. *Adapted from Scandroglio et al*, 2009 [258].

TLC immunostaining

TLC immunostaining is a simple, rapid and sensitive method for the detection of antigenic targets of antilipid antibodies; as described by Magnani et al. [259], the procedure consists in two essential steps: separation of lipids on a TLC plate and detection of lipids *in situ* with specific antibodies (Fig. 19).



Figure 19. TLC overlay assay schemes of antibody-mediated GSL detection. *Adapted from Meisen et al, 2011* [260].

TLC immunostaining Procedure. After chromatographic separation (as described above), the TLC plates were coated three times with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution [258], and air dried for 1 hour before being immersed in blocking solution (3% BSA in PBS) for 1 hour. After washing thrice (1 min each) with washing buffer (PBS), the plates were then incubated with rHIgM22 or isotype human IgM (Chrompure Human IgM; Jackson Immunoreasearch; negative control) at 0.5, 1.0, 2.5 or 5.0 μ g/mL in 1% BSA in PBS overnight at 4°C. After the incubation with the primary antibody, the plates were washed three times and incubated with an HRP-conjugated anti-Human IgM μ -chain antibody for 1 hour, RT, and developed using *O*-phenylenediamine (OPD)/H₂O₂ in 0.05 M citrate-phosphate buffer pH 5.

Column Chromatography

Column chromatography allows to separate a mixture into the pure individual components, to remove impurities and to identify unknown compounds. In column liquid chromatography, the mobile phase is liquid (an organic solvent or a mixture of solvents) and the stationary phase (silica or alumina) can be either solid or liquid supported by an inert solid. The stationary phase is packed

into a column (glass or metal); its length and diameter vary by the amount of sample to be analyzed, the separation mode to be used, and the degree of resolution required. There are two procedure to prepare the column by packing with silica: dry or wet method. In dry method the column is filled with dry powdered silica and then the mobile phase is flushed through it until all the silica is evenly wet (equilibrated). The sample is dissolved in a small volume of mobile phase and it is applied at the top of the column. Classical or low- pressure chromatography utilizes gravity flow or a peristaltic pump to maintain a flow of eluent (mobile phase) through the column. Flash chromatography is an alternative to gravity-fed chromatography and it is a rapid with high resolution technique. It utilizes smaller silica gel particles (250-400 mesh) and for this reason it needs at pressurized gas (i.e. nitrogen gas) to restricted flow of solvent caused by the small gel particles.

Column Chromatography Procedure. The aqueous phase from WT mouse brain (~ 30 mg) was purified by flash chromatography with silica gel 60 column (1 cm, internal diameter, with 20 cm of Silica gel 60, 0.040-0.063 mm) equilibrated and subsequently eluted with CHCl₃:CH3OH:CH₃CH(OH)CH₃:H₂O 70:20:5:3 (v:v:v). The eluting solvents and the lipids obtained in each eluate were collected as fractions, each with a volume of 3 mL. TLC is then used to determine which fractions contain the compound. The structural analysis of the purified lipids was performed by ESI-MS.

Electrospray Ionisation Mass Spectrometry (ESI-MS)

Mass spectrometry is an analytical technique used to identify unknown compounds within a sample. The process consists in the conversion of the sample into gaseous ions which are then characterized by their mass to charge ratios (m/z). The mass spectrometry experiment consists in (1) the ionization of molecules in the gaseous phase, in (2) the separation of the different ions according to their specific mass to charge ratio (m/z) and in (3) their detection. For this reason, the mass spectrometry instrument consists of three major components: (1) ion source, for producing gaseous ions from the sample under investigation; (2) analyzer, for resolving the ions into their characteristics mass components according to their mass-to-charge ratio; (3) detector system, for detecting the ions and recording the relative abundance of each of the resolved ionic species (Fig. 20).



Figure 20. Basic components of the ESI-mass spectrometer.

In ESI-mass spectrometer, electrical energy is used to assist the transfer of ions from solution into the gaseous phase by protonation or cationisation. The transfer of ionic species from solution into the gas phase by ESI involves three steps: (1) dispersal of a fine spray of charge droplets, followed by (2) solvent evaporation and (3) ion ejection from the highly charged droplets [261] (Fig. 21).



Figure 21. A schematic representation of the ESI-ion source. Adapted from Banerjee et al, 2012 [262].

The molecular ions produced in the ionization chamber are then transferred in the mass analyzer region via several ion optics (electromagnetic elements like skimmer, focusing lens, multipole, etc.). The mass analyzer separates the ions according to their m/z value. The separated ions are then passed to the detector systems to measure their concentration, and the results are displayed on a chart called a mass spectrum. The ions in the gas phase are very reactive and often short lived; for

this reason, the ion optics, analyzer and the detectors are kept at very high vacuum (typically from 10^{-3} torr to 10^{-6} torr pressure).

Tandem mass spectrometry, also known as MS/MS, involves multiple steps of mass spectrometry selection. It is a technique to break down selected ions (precursor ions) into fragments (product ions). The fragments then reveal aspects of the chemical structure of the precursor ion. Once samples are ionized by ESI to generate a mixture of ions, a precursor ion of a specific m/z is selected (MS1) and then it is fragmented (MS2) applying a voltage 30-50 times higher than the previous one to generate a product ion for detection.

ESI-MS Procedure. The analyses of the compound were carried out using a ThermoQuest Finnigan LCQ Deca ion-trap mass spectrometer (Finnigan MAT, San Jose, CA) equipped with an electrospray ionization (ESI) ion source, an Xcalibur data system, and a TSP P4000 quaternary pump. The conditions for MS analysis, in negative mode, were the following: sheath gas flow, 50 arbitrary units; spray voltage, 4 kV; capillary voltage, -47 V; capillary temperature, 260°C; and fragmentation voltage (used for collision- induced dissociation), 50%.

Surface plasmon resonance

Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) is an optical technique utilized for detecting molecular interactions. Binding of a mobile molecule (analyte) to a molecule immobilized on a thin metal film (ligand) changes the refractive index of the film [263].



Figure 22. Binding of peptides onto the immobilized lipids (HPA) surfaces in the BIACORE system. *Adapted from Mozsolits at al*, 2003 [264].

SPR represents a much more physiological experimental setting respect to the TLC immunostaining (where the lipids are adsorbed on a silica gel surface, not being organized as a lipid monolayer), and should allow to obtain information on the effect of the presence of other lipids on the ability of antibody to bind the target.

The affinity of IgM22 for different purified lipids in supported lipid monolayers has been assessed using the sensor chip HPA (Fig. 22), which bears a flat hydrophobic surface consisting of long-chain alkane thiol molecules attached directly to a gold film. Preformed liposomes adsorb spontaneously to the surface of the chip to form a supported lipid monolayer, with polar head groups directed out towards the solution containing the antibody.



Figure 23. The preparation of a monolayer and a bilayer model membrane system on an HPA sensor chip. *Adapted from Mozsolits at al, 2003* [264].

SPR Procedure. The affinity of rHIgM22 for different purified lipids in supported lipid monolayers was assessed by SPR using a BIAcore 3000 analytical system (GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden) with HPA sensor chips. Chips were incubated in the presence of DOPC

liposomes containing different amounts of the target lipids. Liposomes containing the target lipids were prepared following standard procedures. Briefly, different amounts of sulfatide $(1 - 0.1 - 0.01 - 0.001 - 0.0005 \mu mol)$ in chloroform/methanol 2:1 were mixed with 1 µmol of DOPC, either alone or in presence of different amounts of a second lipid (cholesterol, GalCer, SM, lysosulfatide), and dried under N₂ flux. The residue was then suspended in 200 µL HBS-N buffer (20 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperizineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl), mixed with a vortex mixer and sonicated for 15 minutes with a water bath sonicator. The solutions were then filtered using a 0.22 µm polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) syringe-driven filter unit. The sensor chip were pretreated with 40 mM n-octyl-β-D-glucoside and the liposome solutions were immobilized on the chip for 30 min at a flow rate of 2 µL/min, using HBS-N buffer without or with

1 mM CaCl₂ and 1 mM MgSO₄ as running buffer. The chip surface was then washed with 50 mM NaOH for 1 min at 5 μ L/min, and blocked with 100 μ g/ml bovine serum albumin (BSA) before proceeding with the analysis. For analysis, 5 μ g/mL of rHIgM22 or control IgM were injected at a flow rate of 10 μ L/min. Signals generated in a negative control cell without target lipid have been subtracted from the experimental values. Quantitative evaluation of the binding and dissociation reactions were performed using the software BIAevaluation version 3.1 [265].

Statistical analysis

Experiments were run in triplicate, unless otherwise stated. Data are expressed as mean value \pm SD and were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance followed by Student-Neuman-Keul's test. p-values are indicated in the legend of each figure.

RESULTS

In vitro binding of rHIgM22 to purified lipids

In order to identify the antigen(s) recognized by rHIgM22, we have tested the binding of rHIgM22 to purified lipids *in vitro* using TLC immunostaining and surface plasmon resonance on lipid monolayers with different composition.

Binding to sulfatide

Data published by Rodriguez et al. demonstrated that rHIgM22 is able to bind to myelin and to the surface of oligodendrocytes *in vitro* [214, 246] and that it binds to CNS tissue sections with a pattern similar to that of O4, an anti-sulfatide antibody [245], suggesting that sulfatide could be one of the antigens recognized by this remyelination-promoting antibody.

Starting from this observation, the first purified lipid we analyzed was sulfatide. **Fig. 24** shows rHIgM22 binding to different amounts of pure sulfatide, from 0.05 to 10 nmol; the binding was proportional to the amount of sulfatide up to 10 nmoles. Increased binding was observed by increasing the concentration of antibody from 2.5 μ g/mL to 5.0 μ g/mL, however below 2.5 g/mL the binding was not quantitatively proportional to the antibody concentration. Binding was very weak at antibody concentrations of 1.0 μ g/mL or lower. Significant binding was observed also for isotype IgM control; however, this binding was significantly lower than that of rHIgM22 in all the experimental points, except for the IgM concentration of 0.5 μ g/mL.

To confirm the specificity of rHIgM22 binding to sulfatide, we set up SPR experiments using lipid monolayers, an experimental setting that allows an antigen presentation closer to the one occurring in a biological membrane.

As shown in **Fig. 25**, rHIgM22 at 5 g/mL binding to sulfatide in DOPC monolayers on HPA chip, at all the amounts of the target lipid (0.0005-1 mol), was significantly higher than the binding of control IgM. Moreover, the shape of the sensorgrams was consistent with a specific binding for rHIgM22. With a DOPC:sulfatide 1:0.01 molar ratio, the maximum response for rHIgM22 was two-fold higher than the maximum response for control IgM.





(A) Different amounts of purified sulfatide (from 0.05 to 10.00 nmol) were separated by TLC using CHCl₃:CH₃OH:H₂O 110:40:6 (v/v/v) as solvent system and the chemical detection of lipid was carried out with Anisaldehyde reagent. (B) After chromatographic separation, TLC plates were fixed with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution and immunostained with different concentrations (0.5, 1.0, 2.5 and 5.0 μ g/mL) of the two primary antibody rHIgM22 and Human IgM (negative control) as described in "Methods". (C) Optical density (OD) of each band was calculated by densitometry; the data are expressed as mean \pm SD of three independent experiments.



Figure 25. Binding of rHIgM22 to sulfatide in DOPC monolayer.

(A) Lipid monolayers were formed in HBS-N buffer as described in "Methods" from small unilamellar vesicles composed of DOPC (1 μ mol) and different amounts of sulfatide (from 5×10-4 μ mol to 1 μ mol); the liposome solutions were immobilized on an HPA sensor chip. The ability to anchor sulfatide was then assayed by injections of rHIgM22 or Human IgM (5.0 μ g/mL) at a flow rate of 10 μ L/min across the different monolayers. (B) The binding of the two antibodies is represented also as maximum response; the data are expressed as mean ± SD of three independent experiments, * p<0.05

Binding to lysosulfatide

The deacylated form of sulfatide, lysosulfatide, is present as a minor component in the normal CNS but its levels can be increased as a consequence of some pathological conditions, such as metachromatic leukodystrophy [266-268]. Considering that sulfatide and lysosulfatide bear the same 3-*O*-sulfo-galactose head group, the binding of rHIgM22 to lysosulfatide was analyzed. The binding to lysosulfatide was assessed using both TLC immunostaining and SPR experiments and, in both experimental settings, the antibody resulted able to bind the lipid. In TLC immunostaining assay, rHIgM22 was able to recognize lysosulfatide and the surface plasmon resonance experiments confirmed that these binding was specific (**Fig. 26**).



Figure 26. Thin layer chromatography (TLC) and TLC-immunostaining of purified lyosulfatide with rHIgM22.

(A) Different amounts of purified lyosulfatide (from 0.05 to 10.00 nmol) were separated by TLC using CHCl3:CH3OH:H2O 110:40:6 (v/v/v) as solvent system and the chemical detection of lipid was carried out with Anisaldehyde reagent. After chromatographic separation, TLC plates were fixed with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution and immunostained with 5.0 μ g/mL of the two primary antibody rHIgM22 and Human IgM (negative control) as described in "Methods". The optical density (OD) of each band was calculated by densitometry; the data are expressed as mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. (B) Lipid monolayers were formed in HBS-N buffer as described in "Methods" from small unilamellar vesicles composed of DOPC (1 μ mol) and different amounts of lysosulfatide (0.1 μ mol or 0.5 μ mol); the liposome solutions were immobilized on an HPA sensor chip. The ability to anchor lysosulfatide was then assayed by injections of rHIgM22 or Human IgM (5.0 μ g/mL) at a flow rate of 10 μ L/min across the different monolayers. (B) The binding of the two antibodies is represented also as maximum response; the data are expressed as mean \pm SD of three independent experiments, * p<0.05

Binding to glycolipids

The myelin membrane is enriched in glycolipids (31% vs. 7% for liver cell plasma membranes) [151], in particular galactosylceramide (~20% of total lipids) [154]. On the other hand, gangliosides, the most abundant glycosphingolipids in the nervous system, are a minor component of the myelin membrane (<1% of total lipids) [269]. So, using the previous experimental setting, other potential glycolipid targets have been screened.

rHIgM22 at 5.0 g/mL showed no significant binding to sphingolipids such as GalCer, SM, LacCer (**Fig. 27A**), GlcSph and GlcCer (**Fig. 27B**) and mono- (GM3, GM2, GM1) and polysialogangliosides (GD3, GD1a and GD1b) (**Fig. 28**). While control IgM at 5.0 g/mL showed no significant binding to GalCer, LacCer, SM, in the case of gangliosides the binding was slightly higher than binding of rHIgM22.



(B)



Figure 27. Thin layer chromatography (TLC) and TLC-immunostaining of neutral glycolipids with rHIgM22.

(A) Different amounts of purified GalCer, LacCer and SM (from 0.05 to 10.00 nmol) or (B) GlcSph and GlcCer (from 2.00 to 8.00 nmol) were separated by TLC using CHCl3:CH3OH:H2O 110:40:6 (v/v/v) as solvent system and the chemical detection of lipid was carried out with Anisaldehyde reagent. After chromatographic separation, TLC plates were fixed with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution and immunostained with 5.0 μ g/mL of the two primary antibody of the two primary antibody rHIgM22 and Human IgM (negative control) as described in "Methods".


Figure 28. Thin layer chromatography (TLC) and TLC-immunostaining of purified gangliosides with rHIgM22.

4.00 nmol of each purified gangliosides were separated by TLC using CHCl3:CH3OH:CaCl2 0,2% 50:42:11 (v/v/v) as solvent system and the chemical detection of lipid was carried out with Anisaldehyde reagent. (B) After chromatographic separation, TLC plates were fixed with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution and immunostained with 5.0 μ g/mL of the two primary antibody of the two primary antibody rHIgM22 and Human IgM (negative control) as described in "Methods".

Binding to glycerophospholipids

Since glycerophospholipids are the major component of biological membranes, the binding of rHIgM22 to glycerophospholipids was assessed through TLC immunostaining.

Under experimental conditions similar to those used to assess binding to sulfatide, rHIgM22 showed no significant binding to PC and a non-specific binding to PE (**Fig. 29**). rHIgM22, on the other hand, showed a significant binding to phosphatidic acid (PA), phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidyinositol (PI); in this case, the control IgM gave no significant binding, suggesting that binding of rHIgM22 to these lipids might be specific.



nmol PA nmol PS nmol PI

Figure 29. Thin layer chromatography (TLC) and TLC-immunostaining of purified phospholipids with rHIgM22.

Different amounts of purified PC, PE, PA, PS and PI (from 0.10 to 10.00 nmol) were separated by TLC using CHCl3:CH3OH:H2O 110:40:6 as solvent system and the chemical detection of lipid was carried out with Anisaldehyde reagent. After chromatographic separation, TLC plates were fixed with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution and immunostained with 5.0 μ g/mL of the two primary antibody of the two primary antibody rHIgM22 and Human IgM (negative control) as described in "Methods".

Effect of different lipids on the binding of rHIgM22 to sulfated containing monolayers

Model membrane studies have shown that sulfatides are protected against antibody recognition in a sphingomyelin/cholesterol environment compared to a phosphatidylcholine/cholesterol environment, suggesting that also the binding of rHIgM22 could be affected by lipid microenvironment [270, 271].

Therefore, SPR experiments have been used also to analyzed the effect of the presence of a second lipid on rHIgM22 binding to sulfatide. In these experiments, monolayers were prepared by mixing a fixed amount of DOPC and a fixed amount of sulfatide (0.01 µmol) with a third lipid using molar ratios corresponding either to those found in the myelin membrane or to a 10 fold higher amount of the third lipid (Figure 20-21), reflecting the molar ratio expected for a lipid raft-like microenvironment.

Binding analysis revealed that the binding response of rHIgM22 to sulfatide containing monolayers is reduced in the presence of either GalCer (0.66 or 0.066 μ mol, the molar ratio calculated for GalCer:sulfatide in myelin and a 10-fold higher ratio, possibly resembling the situation in glycolipid-enriched membrane rafts) or cholesterol (0.1 μ mol, at a molar ratio cholesterol:sulfatide 0.1:0.01), while the addition of SM (0.12 μ mol, at a molar ratio SM:sulfatide 0.012:0.01) to the monolayers determined a increase of the binding (**Fig. 30**). These finding suggest that the binding of rHIgM22 to sulfatide is affected by the membrane lipid microenvironment and that the presence of different lipids, at a certain density, might be required to allow an optimal recognition of the antigen by rHIgM22.



Response [RU]



(B)





(C)







Figure 30. Effect of GalCer, Cholesterol and SM on rHIgM22 binding to sulfatide.

(A) Lipid monolayers were formed in HBS-N buffer as described in "Methods" from small unilamellar vesicles composed of DOPC (1 μ mol), a fixed amount of sulfatide (1×10-2 μ mol) and different amounts of (A) GalCer (0.66 μ mol or 0.066 μ mol), (B) Cholesterol (0.1 μ mol), (C) SM (0.012 μ mol); the liposome solutions were immobilized on an HPA sensor chip. The ability to anchor lipid was then assayed by injections of rHIgM22 or Human IgM (5.0 μ g/mL) at a flow rate of 10 μ L/min across the different monolayers.

In vitro binding of rHIgM22 to lipid extracts

Previous experiments were aimed at the individuation of the molecular target of the antibody, to better understand mechanisms underlying its activity. The data collected on purified lipids, show that rHIgM22 binds to sulfatide *in vitro* but it does not bind to other myelin sphingolipids, such as galactosylceramide, lactosylceramide and sphingomyelin. To verify whether rHIgM22 can bind sulfatide or other lipids in myelin extracts and other CNS cells, the binding of rHIgM22 was tested not only to purified lipids, but also to partially purified lipid extracts obtained from mice and rat brain, cerebellum, brain myelin, mixed glial cultures, microglial cells and cultured oligodendrocytes (listed in the Materials and Methods section).

Total lipid extracts prepared under the experimental conditions described in Materials and Methods do contain all cellular lipids, including hydrophobic (cholesterol and triglycerides) and amphipathic lipids: glycerophospholipids and sphingolipids, and, among those, sphingomyelin, neutral glycosphingolipids (GlcCer, LacCer, and, in myelin and myelin-producing cells, GalCer), and acidic sphingolipids (gangliosides, enriched in neurons, and sulfatide, enriched in myelin).

As shown in **Fig. 31**, when applied to total lipid extracts, the TLC immunostaining procedure was strongly affected by the binding of both rHIgM22 and control IgM to the glycerophospholipids, giving multiple signals whose intensity was not proportional to the amount of lipid samples. It was thus impossible, in these samples, to identify a signal surely ascribable to a specific binding to sulfatide (even if the amount of sulfatide theoretically present in these samples was comparable to the amount detectable using pure sulfatide using similar experimental conditions).

Since in total lipid extracts from biological samples, glycerophospholipids are present in amounts much higher than sulfatide and sphingolipids, representing a significant source of interference in the TLC immunostaining procedure, lipid extracts been subjected to a two-phase Folch's partitioning (with minor modifications), allowing to obtain aqueous phases enriched in gangliosides and a minor portion of sulfatide, and organic phases enriched in the more apolar lipids, including galactolipids and glycerophospholipids.

To obtain lipid mixtures devoid of potentially interfering glycerophospholipids and enriched in sulfatide and other sphingolipids, the organic phases have been further treated with alkali in methanol; this treatment allows to remove almost completely the interfering glycerophospholipids

from the sample, obtaining organic methanolized phases, which is enriched in sulfatide and galactolipids.

As shown in **Fig. 32**, in TLC immunostaining experiments for phospholipid-void methanolized organic phases it was clearly possible to detect a double band co-migrating with the sulfatide standard in samples from wt and ASMKO mouse brain, myelin and rHIgM22-positive cultured oligodendrocytes. All these samples showed a weak reactivity with the control IgM, however the ratio of the rHIgM22 signal and the control IgM signal was comparable to that observed for pure sulfatide.

In TLC immunostaining experiments for aqueous phases, we observed rHIgM22-immunoreactive bands co-migrating with the pure sulfatide standard (**Fig. 33**) and a second rHIgM22-immunoreactive band migrating below sulfated, co-migrating with the pure PI and PS standard, confirming the observation that the antibody is able to bind sulfatide, PI and PS.

It is common to have a small contamination of these two lipids in the aqueous phase, but since PI and PS are glycerophospholipids, they are usually recovered in the organic phase; for this reason, the experiments showed in the next section were aimed to isolate phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylserine species from aqueous phase in order to better understand the characteristics of these two glycerophospholipids.



Figure 31. rHIgM22 binding to total lipid extracts and organic phases. Using TLC immunostaining we assessed rHIgM22 binding to different total lipid extracts (TLE) and organic phases (O.Ph.) obtained from different cells and tissues such as mixed glial cells, wild type mouse brain, ASMKO mouse brain, rHIgM22 positive OPC, and mouse myelin. For each extract and organic phase, either 150 μ g protein were loaded on the TLC plates. The organic phases used for the analysis were obtained through partition. After chromatographic separation (solvent system: CHCl₃:CH₃OH:H₂O 110:40:6), After chromatographic separation, TLC plates were fixed with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution and immunostained with 5.0 μ g/mL of the two primary antibody rHIgM22 and Human IgM (negative control) as described in "Methods".



Figure 32. TLC-immunostaining of methanolyzed organic phases with rHIgM22.

O.Ph.Met (amounts equivalent to 150 μ g protein) obtained from different tissues, such as wild type mouse brain, ASMKO mouse brain, rHIgM22 positive OPC and mouse myelin were separated by TLC using CHCl₃:CH₃OH:H₂O 110:40:6 (v/v/v) as solvent system. After chromatographic separation, TLC plates were fixed with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution and immunostained with 5.0 μ g/mL of the two primary antibody rHIgM22 and Human IgM (negative control) as described in "Methods".



Figure 33. rHIgM22 binding to aqueous phases in TLC immunostaining.

Using TLC immunostaining we assessed rHIgM22 binding to aqueous phases (A.Ph. obtained by partitioning the TLE with water) obtained from different cells and tissues such as mixed glial cells, wild type mouse brain and hemibrain, ASMKO mouse brain, rHIgM22 positive OPC, mouse myelin, CST (+/-) and (-/-) hemibrain, and rat microglia. For each A.Ph. amounts equivalent to 150 μ g protein were loaded on the plate, while for each pure lipid 3 nmol were loaded. After chromatographic separation (solvent system: CHCl₃:CH₃OH:CaCl₂ 50:42:11), After chromatographic separation, TLC plates were fixed with a polyisobuthylmethacrylate solution and immunostained with 5.0 μ g/mL of the two primary antibody rHIgM22 and Human IgM (negative control) as described in "Methods".

Mass spectrometry analysis

To confirm the identification of phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylserine species aqueous phase from mouse brain was purified using column chromatography (**Fig. 34**), as described in Materials and Methods. Following the column chromatographic separation, the fractions enriched in phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylserine species were analyzed by ESI mass spectrometry in negative mode (the specific conditions are reported in the section Materials and Methods).

The MS spectrum of the fraction enriched in phosphatidylinositol revealed the presence of one ion with an m/z of 885 and its MS/MS spectra, obtained by the fragmentation of the 885 ion, shows ions with an m/z of 581 and 419. These spectrum features are characteristic of Phosphatidylinositol with C18:0 and C20:4 (**Fig. 35**). The MS spectrum of the fraction enriched in phosphatidylserine revealed the presence of two ions with an m/z of 788 and 834. The MS/MS spectra obtained by the fragmentation of the 788 ion, shows ions with an m/z of 701 and 419 and MS/MS spectra obtained by the fragmentation of the 834 ion, shows ions with an m/z of 747 and 419. These spectrum features are characteristic of phosphatidylserine with C18:0 and C20:4 for 788 ion and phosphatidylserine with C18:0 and C22:6 for 834 ion (**Fig. 36**). The presence of five hydroxyl groups in inositol, the polar head of phosphatidylinositol, and the presence of α -amino group and one hydroxyl group in serine, the polar head of phosphatidylserine, could justify the small contamination of these two lipids in the aqueous phase.

In order to better understand the characteristics of rHIgM22 binding, also fractions enriched in sulfatide species were analyzed by ESI mass spectrometry in negative mode (**Fig. 37**). The MS spectrum of these fraction revealed the presence of different ions:

- 806 ion; this spectrum feature is characteristic of Sulfatide C18:0 FA
- 850 ion; this spectrum feature is characteristic of Sulfatide C20:0 OH FA
- 866 ion; this spectrum feature is characteristic of Sulfatide C23:0 OH FA or C22:1 2OH
- 878 ion; this spectrum feature is characteristic of Sulfatide C22:0 OH FA
- 904 ion; this spectrum feature is characteristic of Sulfatide C24:1 OH FA

The data collected from fractions enriched in sulfatide, show that rHIgM22 can bind different sulfated species, with a wide variety of acyl chains of different lengths and degree of hydroxylation.



Figure 34 Thin layer chromatography (TLC) of column fractions. After column chromatography separation of aqueous phases from mouse brain, the fraction were separated by TLC using $CHCl_3:CH_3OH:CH_3CH(OH)CH_3:H_2O$ 70:20:5:3 (v/v/v/v) as solvent system and the chemical detection of lipid was carried out with Anisaldehyde reagent.



Figure 35. ESI-MS analysis of phosphatidylinositol. After column chromatography separation of aqueous phases from mouse brain, the fractions enriched in phosphatidylinositol were subjected to ESI MS analysis and subsequently to ESI MS/MS.



Figure 36. ESI-MS analysis of phosphatidylserine species. After column chromatography separation of aqueous phases from mouse brain, the fractions enriched in phosphatidylserine species were subjected to ESI MS analysis and subsequently to ESI MS/MS.



Figure 37. ESI-MS analysis of sulfatide species. After column chromatography separation of aqueous phases from mouse brain, the fractions enriched in sulfatide species were subjected to ESI MS analysis and subsequently to ESI MS/MS.

CONCLUSIONS

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is the most common demyelinating disease of the central nervous system. MS is an autoimmune disease, characterized by immunemediated myelin damage eventually resulting in axonal loss attributable to the absence of myelin sheaths [179]. T cell subsets (Th1, Th2, Th17, CD8+, NKT, CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells) and B cells are involved in this disorder, thus the currently available MS therapies are predominantly immune-modulating and are aimed at reducing the number and rate of lesion formation but do not directly promote repair. The stimulation of remyelination, which allows to repair the damaged regions of the central nervous system, is a new and promising potential approach to treating MS.

In adult human brain, the normal response to demyelination is spontaneous remyelination involving the generation of new oligodendrocytes. The myelin sheaths that are generated in remyelination are typically thinner and shorter than those generated during developmental myelination; nevertheless, they are associated with recovery of function [272, 273].

In some circumstances, however, and notably in MS, remyelination occurs but becomes increasingly incomplete/inadequate and eventually fails, leaving the axons and even the entire neuron vulnerable to degeneration, that largely accounts for the progressive clinical decline associated with this disease [199]. The normal adult white matter contains astrocytes, microglia and OPCs, in addition to myelinating oligodendrocytes [274]. Following demyelination, characterized by loss of oligodendrocytes and myelin, the microglia and astrocytes become activated [275]; the result is the activation of any OPCs [276], in the vicinity, which respond to mitogens and pro-migratory factors that are generated predominantly by reactive astrocytes and inflammatory cells [277]. The activated OPCs proliferate and migrate in the demyelinated area becoming populated by an abundance of OPCs [200]. Macrophages are also recruited and start to remove the myelin debris [278], a process essential for the generation of

new myelin. In the final phase of remyelination, the recruited OPCs differentiate into mature oligodendrocytes with the formation of a novel myelin sheath [199]. There are a multitude of hypotheses as to why remyelination fails in MS, which may reflect either changes in environmental inputs or intrinsic pathways regulating OPCs functions [279, 280]. Theoretically remyelination can be blocked at any point in the remyelination process: oligodendrocyte recruitment, survival, proliferation, migration, maturation, and/or myelin sheath formation. In late stage MS, oligodendrocyte recruitment is deficient (which could be a product of impaired survival, proliferation, and/or migration of oligodendrocytes) and appears to be the primary reason for poor remyelination [204]; in this case, therapeutic targets should be recruitment factors and not differentiation factors, which would inhibit remyelination. Otherwise, in lesions containing more oligodendrocytes, remyelination could fail due to an irregular differentiation, in which case differentiation promoters are desired and recruitment promoters would counteract remyelination. In addition, the formed glial scars, the glia-secreted factors and the presence of myelin-associated debris within the lesion may inhibit OPCs migration into the scar and subsequent differentiation. Experimental and clinical data suggest that differentiation is the most vulnerable phase of remyelination, and it is during this phase that remyelination generally fails [199].

The strategies that are currently being developed to increase efficiency of remyelination can be divide in three groups: 1) cell transplant, involving the transplantation of myelination-competent cells directly into lesion sites [281, 282]; 2) promotion of repair by the resident CNS stem- and precursor-cell populations, through the administration of growth, trophic, and neuroprotective factors [283]; 3) use of CNS reactive antibodies to induce remyelination [227]. One of these remyelination promoting antibodies is rHIgM22, which has recently been concluded a phase I clinical trial aimed to evaluate safety and tolerability in relapsing MS patients (ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT02398461), after

the first phase I clinical trial in MS patients was completed successfully (ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT01803867). rHIgM22, the recombinant form of an antibody identified from a patient with Waldenström macroglobulinemia, has been shown to enter the central nervous system, accumulate in the demyelinated lesions, and promote remyelination in mouse models of chronical demyelination [214, 223] and to bind selectively to myelin and to the surface of oligodendrocytes *in vitro* [214, 284].

Despite these promising capabilities, both the signaling mechanisms stimulated by rHIgM22 and the antigen recognized are still unclear. Watzlawik et al. data suggest an rHIgM22-membrane mediated reorganization of a signaling complex which includes Lyn, integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$ and PDGF α R [231, 246], which leads to inhibition of OPCs apoptotic pathway and differentiation and promotion of OPCs proliferation [219, 233].

Data published by Rodriguez et al. demonstrated that rHIgM22 is able to bind to myelin and to the surface of oligodendrocytes *in vitro* [214, 246] and that it binds to CNS tissue sections with a pattern similar to that of O4, an anti-sulfatide antibody [245], suggesting that sulfatide could be one of the antigens recognized by this remyelination-promoting antibody.

Starting from this observation, we have tested the binding of rHIgM22 to purified lipids and to lipid extracts prepared from several samples using two different experimental approaches: TLC immunostaining and surface plasmon resonance assays.

The data collected show that rHIgM22 binds *in vitro* to sulfatide and its deacylated form, lysosulfatide, (**Fig. 24, 26**) but it does not bind to other myelin sphingolipids, such as galactosylceramide, lactosylceramide and sphingomyelin (**Fig. 27**). Moreover, SPR experiments (**Fig. 25**), where antigen presentation is more physiological respect to TLC immunostaining, showed that the binding of rHIgM22 to sulfatide is specific, suggesting that sulfatide could actually be one of the molecular targets of rHIgM22. In addition, SPR analysis revealed that the binding response of rHIgM22 to sulfatide is modulated by the presence of other lipids; while the presence of GalCer and cholesterol significantly reduce the binding of rHIgM22 to sulfatide, the presence of

sphingomyelin is able to increase the binding of rHIgM22 to sulfatide (**Fig. 30**). Therefore, the addition of other membrane lipids can positively or negatively affect the *in vitro* binding of rHIgM22 to sulfatide, suggesting that, in myelin and oligodendrocytes, the membrane lipid microenvironment containing sulfatide might play a relevant role in the recognition of the antigen by rHIgM22 in intact cell membranes.

Using the TLC immunostaining experimental setting, other potential lipid targets have been screened. rHIgM22 weakly binds also phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), phosphatidic acid (PA), phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidyinositol (PI), but TLC experiments using an isotype IgM control allowed to confirm that while rHIgM22 binding to PA, PS and PI is specific, rHIgM22 binding to PE is not. Moreover, further analysis, with different techniques, might be required to confirm this. In addition, this set of experiments revealed no significant binding of rHIgM22 to PC, the most abundant phospholipid in any biological membrane.

To verify whether rHIgM22 can bind sulfatide or other lipids in myelin extracts and other CNS cells, the binding of rHIgM22 has been tested not only to purified lipids, but also to partially purified lipid extracts obtained from mice and rat brain, cerebellum, brain myelin, mixed glial cultures, microglial cells and cultured oligodendrocytes. In TLC immunostaining experiments for phospholipid-void methanolized organic phases (**Fig. 32**), it was possible clearly to detected a double band co-migrating with the sulfatide standard in samples from wt and ASMKO mouse brain, myelin and rHIgM22-positive cultured oligodendrocytes. All these samples showed a weak reactivity with the control IgM, however the ratio of the rHIgM22 signal and the control IgM signal was comparable to that observed for pure sulfatide.

In TLC immunostaining experiments for aqueous phases (**Fig. 33**), we observed rHIgM22-immunoreactive bands co-migrating with the pure sulfatide standard and, unexpectedly, a second rHIgM22-immunoreactive band migrating below sulfated, co-migrating with the pure PI and PS standard, confirming the previously observation that the antibody is able to bind sulfatide, PI and PS. In order to better understand the characteristics of these two glycerophospholipids, (**Fig. 34**), they were partially purified and were analyzed by ESI mass spectrometry. The results obtained led to hypothesize that the unknown antigens could be phosphatidylinositol (18:0/20:4-PI)

and two different phosphatidylserine species, 18:0/22:6-PS and 18:0/18:1-PS (**Fig. 35, 36**). In addition, MS analysis for the fractions enriched in sulfatide (**Fig. 37**), shows that rHIgM22 can bind different sulfated species, with a wide variety of acyl chains of different lengths and degree of hydroxylation, suggesting that this binding is not fatty acid species-specific for the sulfatide (in agreement with the observation that the antibody is as well able to bind to lysosulfatide). This point of view is supported by the fact that only the hydrophilic carbohydrate moiety of the sphingolipids is exposed to the cell surface and, therefore, detectable by antibody. This emphasizes the carbohydrate moiety and neglects the lipid backbone as the essential part of the antigen.

The data collected in our laboratories demonstrate that rHIgM22 binds to sulfatide *in vitro*, according to the observation that rHIgM22 is able to bind to myelin and to oligodendrocytes, and that its binding is abolished in CNS tissue from CST(-/-) mice, which lacking sulfatide. The binding to sulfatide is specific, even if the binding affinity is low, and can be modulated by the presence of other lipids. This confirm the hypothesis that there may be a possible role of the membrane microenvironment in the recognition of the antigen by rHIgM22. Likely, the binding of rHIgM22 to the cells could require a complex molecular arrangement, and, in particular, sulfatide might be part of the functional rHIgM22 antigen localized at the cell surface.

In addition, rHIgM22 also reacts with phosphatidic acid, phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylinositol present in lipid extracts from various sources, including CST knock-out mice brains, MGC, and isolated astrocytes and microglia. This suggests that not only sulfatide, but also other membrane lipids might play a role in the binding of rHIgM22 to oligodendrocytes and suggests an involvement of other cell types. Indeed, as reported in literature, activation and proliferation of astrocytes and microglia (that is present in mixed glial cells too) is observed in demyelinating lesions, suggesting that immune response might be important in both oligodendrocyte injury and axonal degeneration [285]. In MS astrocytes promote the degeneration of myelin, but at the same time, create a permissive environment promoting remyelination through the secretion of molecules like cytokines [286]. In addition, data in literature show that rHIgM22 induced OPC proliferation in mixed glial cultures, but not in isolated OPC.

This suggest that the stimulation of OPC proliferation requires factors produced by astrocytes and/or microglia [233].

So, our hypothesis is that rHIgM22 does not activate myelination only binding to OPCs, but it also recruits in some way other cell types within the lesion niche to exert its function. An interaction between OPCs, astrocytes and microglia is necessary to the process of remyelination. This is an important step to understand the process of remyelination in general, however, other experiments are necessary to go deeper in the comprehension. Although rHIgM22 antigens seem to be identified, the molecular process and pathways activated are still not clear. However, we hypothesize that rHIgM22 needs to bind sulfatide in a particular membrane environment containing these lipid antigens, probably a lipid rafts organization. On the other hand, lipid rafts not containing sulfatide might represent the target of the antibody in cell population not expressing significant amounts of sulfatide, such as astrocytes and microglia.

The identification of the binding targets of rHIgM22, the characterization of their membrane microenvironment and the identity of the cell types involved could significantly contribute to understand the signaling mechanisms underlying the biological activity of rHIgM22. This, in turn, would allow to obtain a better comprehension of the process of (re)myelination, and of the molecular mechanism involved in the pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis, thus allowing to define new potential therapeutic targets.

REFERENCES

[1] T. Harayama, H. Riezman, Understanding the diversity of membrane lipid composition, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 19 (2018) 281-296.

[2] S.J. Singer, G.L. Nicolson, The fluid mosaic model of the structure of cell membranes, Science, 175 (1972) 720-731.

[3] A.J. Verkleij, R.F. Zwaal, B. Roelofsen, P. Comfurius, D. Kastelijn, L.L. van Deenen, The asymmetric distribution of phospholipids in the human red cell membrane. A combined study using phospholipases and freeze-etch electron microscopy, Biochim Biophys Acta, 323 (1973) 178-193.

[4] M. Pulfer, R.C. Murphy, Electrospray mass spectrometry of phospholipids, Mass Spectrom Rev, 22 (2003) 332-364.

[5] A.A. Farooqui, L.A. Horrocks, T. Farooqui, Glycerophospholipids in brain: their metabolism, incorporation into membranes, functions, and involvement in neurological disorders, Chem Phys Lipids, 106 (2000) 1-29.

[6] B.M. Ross, A. Moszczynska, J.K. Blusztajn, A. Sherwin, A. Lozano, S.J. Kish, Phospholipid biosynthetic enzymes in human brain, Lipids, 32 (1997) 351-358.

[7] A.M. Heacock, B.W. Agranoff, CDP-diacylglycerol synthase from mammalian tissues, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1348 (1997) 166-172.

[8] J.C. Sexton, T.S. Moore, Phosphatidylinositol synthesis by a mn-dependent exchange enzyme in castor bean endosperm, Plant Physiol, 68 (1981) 18-22.

[9] K.F. Tolias, L.C. Cantley, Pathways for phosphoinositide synthesis, Chem Phys Lipids, 98 (1999) 69-77.

[10] K. Athenstaedt, G. Daum, Phosphatidic acid, a key intermediate in lipid metabolism, Eur J Biochem, 266 (1999) 1-16.

[11] B. Rozycki, R. Lipowsky, Spontaneous curvature of bilayer membranes from molecular simulations: asymmetric lipid densities and asymmetric adsorption, J Chem Phys, 142 (2015) 054101.

[12] D.L. Nelson, M.M. Cox, A.L. Lehninger, Lehninger principles of biochemistry, Seventh edition. ed., W.H. Freeman and Company ;

Macmillan Higher Education, Place Published, 2017.

[13] E.M. Bevers, P. Comfurius, D.W. Dekkers, R.F. Zwaal, Lipid translocation across the plasma membrane of mammalian cells, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1439 (1999) 317-330.

[14] E.E. Kooijman, V. Chupin, B. de Kruijff, K.N. Burger, Modulation of membrane curvature by phosphatidic acid and lysophosphatidic acid, Traffic, 4 (2003) 162-174.

[15] M.J. Wakelam, Diacylglycerol--when is it an intracellular messenger?, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1436 (1998) 117-126.

[16] M.G. Roth, Lipid regulators of membrane traffic through the Golgi complex, Trends Cell Biol, 9 (1999) 174-179.

[17] S. Kameoka, Y. Adachi, K. Okamoto, M. Iijima, H. Sesaki, Phosphatidic Acid and Cardiolipin Coordinate Mitochondrial Dynamics, Trends Cell Biol, 28 (2018) 67-76.

[18] F. Sanematsu, A. Nishikimi, M. Watanabe, T. Hongu, Y. Tanaka, Y. Kanaho, J.F. Cote, Y. Fukui, Phosphatidic acid-dependent recruitment and function of the Rac activator DOCK1 during dorsal ruffle formation, J Biol Chem, 288 (2013) 8092-8100.

[19] J.P. Fernandez-Murray, C.R. McMaster, Phosphatidylcholine synthesis and its catabolism by yeast neuropathy target esterase 1, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1771 (2007) 331-336.

[20] D. Milhas, C.J. Clarke, Y.A. Hannun, Sphingomyelin metabolism at the plasma membrane: implications for bioactive sphingolipids, FEBS Lett, 584 (2010) 1887-1894.

[21] J.E. Vance, Phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylethanolamine in mammalian cells: two metabolically related aminophospholipids, J Lipid Res, 49 (2008) 1377-1387.

[22] M. Bohdanowicz, S. Grinstein, Role of phospholipids in endocytosis, phagocytosis, and macropinocytosis, Physiol Rev, 93 (2013) 69-106.

[23] K. Balasubramanian, A.J. Schroit, Aminophospholipid asymmetry: A matter of life and death, Annu Rev Physiol, 65 (2003) 701-734.

[24] D.R. Voelker, Phosphatidylserine functions as the major precursor of phosphatidylethanolamine in cultured BHK-21 cells, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 81 (1984) 2669-2673.

[25] C.J. Walkey, L.R. Donohue, R. Bronson, L.B. Agellon, D.E. Vance, Disruption of the murine gene encoding phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 94 (1997) 12880-12885.

[26] J.A. Post, J.J. Bijvelt, A.J. Verkleij, Phosphatidylethanolamine and sarcolemmal damage during ischemia or metabolic inhibition of heart myocytes, Am J Physiol, 268 (1995) H773-780.

[27] P. Rockenfeller, M. Koska, F. Pietrocola, N. Minois, O. Knittelfelder, V. Sica, J. Franz, D. Carmona-Gutierrez, G. Kroemer, F. Madeo, Phosphatidylethanolamine positively regulates autophagy and longevity, Cell Death Differ, 22 (2015) 499-508.

[28] D.W. Hailey, A.S. Rambold, P. Satpute-Krishnan, K. Mitra, R. Sougrat, P.K. Kim, J. Lippincott-Schwartz, Mitochondria supply membranes for autophagosome biogenesis during starvation, Cell, 141 (2010) 656-667.

[29] W. Basu Ball, J.K. Neff, V.M. Gohil, The role of nonbilayer phospholipids in mitochondrial structure and function, FEBS Lett, 592 (2018) 1273-1290.

[30] M. Schlame, D. Rua, M.L. Greenberg, The biosynthesis and functional role of cardiolipin, Prog Lipid Res, 39 (2000) 257-288.

[31] R.H. Houtkooper, F.M. Vaz, Cardiolipin, the heart of mitochondrial metabolism, Cell Mol Life Sci, 65 (2008) 2493-2506.

[32] J.E. Vance, R. Steenbergen, Metabolism and functions of phosphatidylserine, Prog Lipid Res, 44 (2005) 207-234.

[33] P.K. Schick, K.B. Kurica, G.K. Chacko, Location of phosphatidylethanolamine and phosphatidylserine in the human platelet plasma membrane, J Clin Invest, 57 (1976) 1221-1226.

[34] A. Zachowski, Phospholipids in animal eukaryotic membranes: transverse asymmetry and movement, Biochem J, 294 (Pt 1) (1993) 1-14.

[35] E.M. Bevers, P. Comfurius, J.L. van Rijn, H.C. Hemker, R.F. Zwaal, Generation of prothrombin-converting activity and the exposure of phosphatidylserine at the outer surface of platelets, Eur J Biochem, 122 (1982) 429-436.

[36] B.M. Gadella, R.A. Harrison, The capacitating agent bicarbonate induces protein kinase Adependent changes in phospholipid transbilayer behavior in the sperm plasma membrane, Development, 127 (2000) 2407-2420.

[37] V.A. Fadok, D.R. Voelker, P.A. Campbell, J.J. Cohen, D.L. Bratton, P.M. Henson, Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages, J Immunol, 148 (1992) 2207-2216.

[38] V.A. Fadok, A. de Cathelineau, D.L. Daleke, P.M. Henson, D.L. Bratton, Loss of phospholipid asymmetry and surface exposure of phosphatidylserine is required for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages and fibroblasts, J Biol Chem, 276 (2001) 1071-1077.

[39] D. Park, A. Hochreiter-Hufford, K.S. Ravichandran, The phosphatidylserine receptor TIM-4 does not mediate direct signaling, Curr Biol, 19 (2009) 346-351.

[40] W. Li, Eat-me signals: keys to molecular phagocyte biology and "appetite" control, J Cell Physiol, 227 (2012) 1291-1297.

[41] C. Zelenak, V. Pasham, K. Jilani, P.M. Tripodi, L. Rosaclerio, G. Pathare, A. Lupescu, C. Faggio, S.M. Qadri, F. Lang, Tanshinone IIA stimulates erythrocyte phosphatidylserine exposure, Cell Physiol Biochem, 30 (2012) 282-294.

[42] S.C. Frasch, R.F. Fernandez-Boyanapalli, K.Z. Berry, C.C. Leslie, J.V. Bonventre, R.C. Murphy, P.M. Henson, D.L. Bratton, Signaling via macrophage G2A enhances efferocytosis of dying neutrophils by augmentation of Rac activity, J Biol Chem, 286 (2011) 12108-12122.

[43] J.E. Vance, G. Tasseva, Formation and function of phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylethanolamine in mammalian cells, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1831 (2013) 543-554.

[44] D. Arikketh, R. Nelson, J.E. Vance, Defining the importance of phosphatidylserine synthase-1 (PSS1): unexpected viability of PSS1-deficient mice, J Biol Chem, 283 (2008) 12888-12897.

[45] P.F. Devaux, Protein involvement in transmembrane lipid asymmetry, Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct, 21 (1992) 417-439.

[46] F.L. Robinson, J.E. Dixon, Myotubularin phosphatases: policing 3-phosphoinositides, Trends Cell Biol, 16 (2006) 403-412.

[47] M.J. Begley, G.S. Taylor, S.A. Kim, D.M. Veine, J.E. Dixon, J.A. Stuckey, Crystal structure of a phosphoinositide phosphatase, MTMR2: insights into myotubular myopathy and Charcot-Marie-Tooth syndrome, Mol Cell, 12 (2003) 1391-1402.

[48] D.J. Gillooly, A. Simonsen, H. Stenmark, Cellular functions of phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and FYVE domain proteins, Biochem J, 355 (2001) 249-258.

[49] K. Obara, Y. Ohsumi, Dynamics and function of PtdIns(3)P in autophagy, Autophagy, 4 (2008) 952-954.

[50] T.R. Graham, C.G. Burd, Coordination of Golgi functions by phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases, Trends Cell Biol, 21 (2011) 113-121.

[51] O. Lecompte, O. Poch, J. Laporte, PtdIns5P regulation through evolution: roles in membrane trafficking?, Trends Biochem Sci, 33 (2008) 453-460.

[52] M. Fukumoto, T. Ijuin, T. Takenawa, PI(3,4)P2 plays critical roles in the regulation of focal adhesion dynamics of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, Cancer Sci, 108 (2017) 941-951.

[53] S. McLaughlin, D. Murray, Plasma membrane phosphoinositide organization by protein electrostatics, Nature, 438 (2005) 605-611.

[54] T. Sasaki, S. Takasuga, J. Sasaki, S. Kofuji, S. Eguchi, M. Yamazaki, A. Suzuki, Mammalian phosphoinositide kinases and phosphatases, Prog Lipid Res, 48 (2009) 307-343.

[55] E.M. Griner, M.G. Kazanietz, Protein kinase C and other diacylglycerol effectors in cancer, Nat Rev Cancer, 7 (2007) 281-294.

[56] G. Odorizzi, M. Babst, S.D. Emr, Fab1p PtdIns(3)P 5-kinase function essential for protein sorting in the multivesicular body, Cell, 95 (1998) 847-858.

[57] N. Jin, M.J. Lang, L.S. Weisman, Phosphatidylinositol 3,5-bisphosphate: regulation of cellular events in space and time, Biochem Soc Trans, 44 (2016) 177-184.

[58] S.K. Dove, K. Dong, T. Kobayashi, F.K. Williams, R.H. Michell, Phosphatidylinositol 3,5bisphosphate and Fab1p/PIKfyve underPPIn endo-lysosome function, Biochem J, 419 (2009) 1-13.

[59] N. Bartke, Y.A. Hannun, Bioactive sphingolipids: metabolism and function, J Lipid Res, 50 Suppl (2009) S91-96.

[60] F.M. Goni, A. Alonso, Biophysics of sphingolipids I. Membrane properties of sphingosine, ceramides and other simple sphingolipids, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1758 (2006) 1902-1921.

[61] T. Wennekes, R.J. van den Berg, R.G. Boot, G.A. van der Marel, H.S. Overkleeft, J.M. Aerts, Glycosphingolipids--nature, function, and pharmacological modulation, Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 48 (2009) 8848-8869.

[62] S. Grassi, L. Mauri, S. Prioni, L. Cabitta, S. Sonnino, A. Prinetti, P. Giussani, Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Receptors and Metabolic Enzymes as Druggable Targets for Brain Diseases, Front Pharmacol, 10 (2019) 807.

[63] S.T. Pruett, A. Bushnev, K. Hagedorn, M. Adiga, C.A. Haynes, M.C. Sullards, D.C. Liotta, A.H. Merrill, Jr., Biodiversity of sphingoid bases ("sphingosines") and related amino alcohols, J Lipid Res, 49 (2008) 1621-1639.

[64] K. Hanada, Serine palmitoyltransferase, a key enzyme of sphingolipid metabolism, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1632 (2003) 16-30.

[65] Y. Pewzner-Jung, S. Ben-Dor, A.H. Futerman, When do Lasses (longevity assurance genes) become CerS (ceramide synthases)?: Insights into the regulation of ceramide synthesis, J Biol Chem, 281 (2006) 25001-25005.

[66] S. Lahiri, A.H. Futerman, The metabolism and function of sphingolipids and glycosphingolipids, Cell Mol Life Sci, 64 (2007) 2270-2284.

[67] M.W. Spence, Sphingomyelinases, Adv Lipid Res, 26 (1993) 3-23.

[68] H. Sprong, B. Kruithof, R. Leijendekker, J.W. Slot, G. van Meer, P. van der Sluijs, UDP-galactose:ceramide galactosyltransferase is a class I integral membrane protein of the endoplasmic reticulum, J Biol Chem, 273 (1998) 25880-25888.

[69] T. Kolter, K. Sandhoff, Sphingolipids-Their Metabolic Pathways and the Pathobiochemistry of Neurodegenerative Diseases, Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 38 (1999) 1532-1568.

[70] H. Van Overloop, S. Gijsbers, P.P. Van Veldhoven, Further characterization of mammalian ceramide kinase: substrate delivery and (stereo)specificity, tissue distribution, and subcellular localization studies, J Lipid Res, 47 (2006) 268-283.

[71] A. Carre, C. Graf, S. Stora, D. Mechtcheriakova, R. Csonga, N. Urtz, A. Billich, T. Baumruker, F. Bornancin, Ceramide kinase targeting and activity determined by its N-terminal pleckstrin homology domain, Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 324 (2004) 1215-1219.

[72] S. Mitsutake, T.J. Kim, Y. Inagaki, M. Kato, T. Yamashita, Y. Igarashi, Ceramide kinase is a mediator of calcium-dependent degranulation in mast cells, J Biol Chem, 279 (2004) 17570-17577.

[73] M. Tani, H. Iida, M. Ito, O-glycosylation of mucin-like domain retains the neutral ceramidase on the plasma membranes as a type II integral membrane protein, J Biol Chem, 278 (2003) 10523-10530.

[74] C. Mao, R. Xu, Z.M. Szulc, J. Bielawski, K.P. Becker, A. Bielawska, S.H. Galadari, W. Hu, L.M. Obeid, Cloning and characterization of a mouse endoplasmic reticulum alkaline ceramidase: an enzyme that preferentially regulates metabolism of very long chain ceramides, J Biol Chem, 278 (2003) 31184-31191.

[75] K. Bernardo, R. Hurwitz, T. Zenk, R.J. Desnick, K. Ferlinz, E.H. Schuchman, K. Sandhoff, Purification, characterization, and biosynthesis of human acid ceramidase, J Biol Chem, 270 (1995) 11098-11102.

[76] A.H. Futerman, B. Stieger, A.L. Hubbard, R.E. Pagano, Sphingomyelin synthesis in rat liver occurs predominantly at the cis and medial cisternae of the Golgi apparatus, J Biol Chem, 265 (1990) 8650-8657.

[77] R.E. Pagano, What is the fate of diacylglycerol produced at the Golgi apparatus?, Trends Biochem Sci, 13 (1988) 202-205.

[78] S. Yamaoka, M. Miyaji, T. Kitano, H. Umehara, T. Okazaki, Expression cloning of a human cDNA restoring sphingomyelin synthesis and cell growth in sphingomyelin synthase-defective lymphoid cells, J Biol Chem, 279 (2004) 18688-18693.

[79] K. Huitema, J. van den Dikkenberg, J.F. Brouwers, J.C. Holthuis, Identification of a family of animal sphingomyelin synthases, EMBO J, 23 (2004) 33-44.

[80] K. Hanada, K. Kumagai, N. Tomishige, T. Yamaji, CERT-mediated trafficking of ceramide, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1791 (2009) 684-691.

[81] K. Hanada, Discovery of the molecular machinery CERT for endoplasmic reticulum-to-Golgi trafficking of ceramide, Mol Cell Biochem, 286 (2006) 23-31.

[82] D. Jeckel, A. Karrenbauer, K.N. Burger, G. van Meer, F. Wieland, Glucosylceramide is synthesized at the cytosolic surface of various Golgi subfractions, J Cell Biol, 117 (1992) 259-267.

[83] M. Maceyka, H. Sankala, N.C. Hait, H. Le Stunff, H. Liu, R. Toman, C. Collier, M. Zhang, L.S. Satin, A.H. Merrill, Jr., S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, SphK1 and SphK2, sphingosine kinase

isoenzymes with opposing functions in sphingolipid metabolism, J Biol Chem, 280 (2005) 37118-37129.

[84] D. Halter, S. Neumann, S.M. van Dijk, J. Wolthoorn, A.M. de Maziere, O.V. Vieira, P. Mattjus, J. Klumperman, G. van Meer, H. Sprong, Pre- and post-Golgi translocation of glucosylceramide in glycosphingolipid synthesis, J Cell Biol, 179 (2007) 101-115.

[85] S. Neumann, G. van Meer, Sphingolipid management by an orchestra of lipid transfer proteins, Biol Chem, 389 (2008) 1349-1360.

[86] G. D'Angelo, E. Polishchuk, G. Di Tullio, M. Santoro, A. Di Campli, A. Godi, G. West, J. Bielawski, C.C. Chuang, A.C. van der Spoel, F.M. Platt, Y.A. Hannun, R. Polishchuk, P. Mattjus, M.A. De Matteis, Glycosphingolipid synthesis requires FAPP2 transfer of glucosylceramide, Nature, 449 (2007) 62-67.

[87] M.A. De Matteis, A. Luini, Exiting the Golgi complex, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 9 (2008) 273-284.

[88] X. Buton, P. Herve, J. Kubelt, A. Tannert, K.N. Burger, P. Fellmann, P. Muller, A. Herrmann, M. Seigneuret, P.F. Devaux, Transbilayer movement of monohexosylsphingolipids in endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi membranes, Biochemistry, 41 (2002) 13106-13115.

[89] L. Svennerholm, Chromatographic Separation of Human Brain Gangliosides, J Neurochem, 10 (1963) 613-623.

[90] T. Kolter, R.L. Proia, K. Sandhoff, Combinatorial ganglioside biosynthesis, J Biol Chem, 277 (2002) 25859-25862.

[91] K. Sandhoff, T. Kolter, Biosynthesis and degradation of mammalian glycosphingolipids, Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 358 (2003) 847-861.

[92] A.S.B. Olsen, N.J. Faergeman, Sphingolipids: membrane microdomains in brain development, function and neurological diseases, Open Biol, 7 (2017).

[93] E. Gulbins, P.L. Li, Physiological and pathophysiological aspects of ceramide, Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 290 (2006) R11-26.

[94] K. Venkataraman, A.H. Futerman, Ceramide as a second messenger: sticky solutions to sticky problems, Trends Cell Biol, 10 (2000) 408-412.

[95] D.A. Brown, E. London, Structure and origin of ordered lipid domains in biological membranes, J Membr Biol, 164 (1998) 103-114.

[96] E. Gulbins, R. Kolesnick, Raft ceramide in molecular medicine, Oncogene, 22 (2003) 7070-7077.

[97] L.J. Siskind, R.N. Kolesnick, M. Colombini, Ceramide channels increase the permeability of the mitochondrial outer membrane to small proteins, J Biol Chem, 277 (2002) 26796-26803.

[98] L.J. Siskind, R.N. Kolesnick, M. Colombini, Ceramide forms channels in mitochondrial outer membranes at physiologically relevant concentrations, Mitochondrion, 6 (2006) 118-125.

[99] A. Rietveld, K. Simons, The differential miscibility of lipids as the basis for the formation of functional membrane rafts, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1376 (1998) 467-479.

[100] D.A. Brown, E. London, Structure and function of sphingolipid- and cholesterol-rich membrane rafts, J Biol Chem, 275 (2000) 17221-17224.

[101] R.W. Ledeen, G. Wu, Sphingolipids of the nucleus and their role in nuclear signaling, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1761 (2006) 588-598.

[102] H. Birbes, S. El Bawab, Y.A. Hannun, L.M. Obeid, Selective hydrolysis of a mitochondrial pool of sphingomyelin induces apoptosis, FASEB J, 15 (2001) 2669-2679.

[103] R.K. Yu, Y. Nakatani, M. Yanagisawa, The role of glycosphingolipid metabolism in the developing brain, J Lipid Res, 50 Suppl (2009) S440-445.

[104] R.W. Ledeen, G. Wu, Nuclear sphingolipids: metabolism and signaling, J Lipid Res, 49 (2008) 1176-1186.

[105] K. Jacobson, C. Dietrich, Looking at lipid rafts?, Trends Cell Biol, 9 (1999) 87-91.

[106] D.J. Sillence, New insights into glycosphingolipid functions--storage, lipid rafts, and translocators, Int Rev Cytol, 262 (2007) 151-189.

[107] T.W. Tillack, M. Allietta, R.E. Moran, W.W. Young, Jr., Localization of globoside and Forssman glycolipids on erythrocyte membranes, Biochim Biophys Acta, 733 (1983) 15-24.

[108] R. Varma, S. Mayor, GPI-anchored proteins are organized in submicron domains at the cell surface, Nature, 394 (1998) 798-801.

[109] T. Friedrichson, T.V. Kurzchalia, Microdomains of GPI-anchored proteins in living cells revealed by crosslinking, Nature, 394 (1998) 802-805.

[110] T. Harder, P. Scheiffele, P. Verkade, K. Simons, Lipid domain structure of the plasma membrane revealed by patching of membrane components, J Cell Biol, 141 (1998) 929-942.

[111] L. Cantu, E. Del Favero, S. Sonnino, A. Prinetti, Gangliosides and the multiscale modulation of membrane structure, Chem Phys Lipids, 164 (2011) 796-810.

[112] K. Simons, E. Ikonen, Functional rafts in cell membranes, Nature, 387 (1997) 569-572.

[113] A. Filippov, G. Oradd, G. Lindblom, Sphingomyelin structure influences the lateral diffusion and raft formation in lipid bilayers, Biophys J, 90 (2006) 2086-2092.

[114] E. London, D.A. Brown, Insolubility of lipids in triton X-100: physical origin and relationship to sphingolipid/cholesterol membrane domains (rafts), Biochim Biophys Acta, 1508 (2000) 182-195.

[115] E. Yamada, The fine structure of the gall bladder epithelium of the mouse, J Biophys Biochem Cytol, 1 (1955) 445-458.

[116] A. Pol, R. Luetterforst, M. Lindsay, S. Heino, E. Ikonen, R.G. Parton, A caveolin dominant negative mutant associates with lipid bodies and induces intracellular cholesterol imbalance, J Cell Biol, 152 (2001) 1057-1070.

[117] M. Aureli, S. Grassi, S. Prioni, S. Sonnino, A. Prinetti, Lipid membrane domains in the brain, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1851 (2015) 1006-1016.

[118] A. Prinetti, K. Iwabuchi, S. Hakomori, Glycosphingolipid-enriched signaling domain in mouse neuroblastoma Neuro2a cells. Mechanism of ganglioside-dependent neuritogenesis, J Biol Chem, 274 (1999) 20916-20924.

[119] N. Loberto, S. Prioni, A. Bettiga, V. Chigorno, A. Prinetti, S. Sonnino, The membrane environment of endogenous cellular prion protein in primary rat cerebellar neurons, J Neurochem, 95 (2005) 771-783.

[120] I. Griffiths, M. Klugmann, T. Anderson, D. Yool, C. Thomson, M.H. Schwab, A. Schneider, F. Zimmermann, M. McCulloch, N. Nadon, K.A. Nave, Axonal swellings and degeneration in mice lacking the major proteolipid of myelin, Science, 280 (1998) 1610-1613.

[121] X. Yin, R.C. Baek, D.A. Kirschner, A. Peterson, Y. Fujii, K.A. Nave, W.B. Macklin, B.D. Trapp, Evolution of a neuroprotective function of central nervous system myelin, J Cell Biol, 172 (2006) 469-478.

[122] C. Hildebrand, S. Remahl, H. Persson, C. Bjartmar, Myelinated nerve fibres in the CNS, Prog Neurobiol, 40 (1993) 319-384.

[123] C. Hildebrand, C.M. Bowe, I.N. Remahl, Myelination and myelin sheath remodelling in normal and pathological PNS nerve fibres, Prog Neurobiol, 43 (1994) 85-141.

[124] S.E. Pfeiffer, A.E. Warrington, R. Bansal, The oligodendrocyte and its many cellular processes, Trends Cell Biol, 3 (1993) 191-197.

[125] S.S. Magavi, B.R. Leavitt, J.D. Macklis, Induction of neurogenesis in the neocortex of adult mice, Nature, 405 (2000) 951-955.

[126] M.C. Raff, R.H. Miller, M. Noble, A glial progenitor cell that develops in vitro into an astrocyte or an oligodendrocyte depending on culture medium, Nature, 303 (1983) 390-396.

[127] C. Ffrench-Constant, M.C. Raff, The oligodendrocyte-type-2 astrocyte cell lineage is specialized for myelination, Nature, 323 (1986) 335-338.

[128] E. Noll, R.H. Miller, Oligodendrocyte precursors originate at the ventral ventricular zone dorsal to the ventral midline region in the embryonic rat spinal cord, Development, 118 (1993) 563-573.

[129] N.P. Pringle, S. Guthrie, A. Lumsden, W.D. Richardson, Dorsal spinal cord neuroepithelium generates astrocytes but not oligodendrocytes, Neuron, 20 (1998) 883-893.

[130] H. Fu, Y. Qi, M. Tan, J. Cai, H. Takebayashi, M. Nakafuku, W. Richardson, M. Qiu, Dual origin of spinal oligodendrocyte progenitors and evidence for the cooperative role of Olig2 and Nkx2.2 in the control of oligodendrocyte differentiation, Development, 129 (2002) 681-693.

[131] A. Vallstedt, J.M. Klos, J. Ericson, Multiple dorsoventral origins of oligodendrocyte generation in the spinal cord and hindbrain, Neuron, 45 (2005) 55-67.

[132] N. Kessaris, M. Fogarty, P. Iannarelli, M. Grist, M. Wegner, W.D. Richardson, Competing waves of oligodendrocytes in the forebrain and postnatal elimination of an embryonic lineage, Nat Neurosci, 9 (2006) 173-179.

[133] A. Barateiro, A. Fernandes, Temporal oligodendrocyte lineage progression: in vitro models of proliferation, differentiation and myelination, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1843 (2014) 1917-1929.

[134] V.E. Miron, T. Kuhlmann, J.P. Antel, Cells of the oligodendroglial lineage, myelination, and remyelination, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1812 (2011) 184-193.

[135] T. Czopka, C. Ffrench-Constant, D.A. Lyons, Individual oligodendrocytes have only a few hours in which to generate new myelin sheaths in vivo, Dev Cell, 25 (2013) 599-609.

[136] A.S. Baer, Y.A. Syed, S.U. Kang, D. Mitteregger, R. Vig, C. Ffrench-Constant, R.J. Franklin, F. Altmann, G. Lubec, M.R. Kotter, Myelin-mediated inhibition of oligodendrocyte precursor

differentiation can be overcome by pharmacological modulation of Fyn-RhoA and protein kinase C signalling, Brain, 132 (2009) 465-481.

[137] S. Goebbels, J.H. Oltrogge, S. Wolfer, G.L. Wieser, T. Nientiedt, A. Pieper, T. Ruhwedel, M. Groszer, M.W. Sereda, K.A. Nave, Genetic disruption of Pten in a novel mouse model of tomaculous neuropathy, EMBO Mol Med, 4 (2012) 486-499.

[138] S. Goebbels, J.H. Oltrogge, R. Kemper, I. Heilmann, I. Bormuth, S. Wolfer, S.P. Wichert, W. Mobius, X. Liu, C. Lappe-Siefke, M.J. Rossner, M. Groszer, U. Suter, J. Frahm, S. Boretius, K.A. Nave, Elevated phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate in glia triggers cell-autonomous membrane wrapping and myelination, J Neurosci, 30 (2010) 8953-8964.

[139] N. Snaidero, W. Mobius, T. Czopka, L.H. Hekking, C. Mathisen, D. Verkleij, S. Goebbels, J. Edgar, D. Merkler, D.A. Lyons, K.A. Nave, M. Simons, Myelin membrane wrapping of CNS axons by PI(3,4,5)P3-dependent polarized growth at the inner tongue, Cell, 156 (2014) 277-290.

[140] J.R. Chan, C. Jolicoeur, J. Yamauchi, J. Elliott, J.P. Fawcett, B.K. Ng, M. Cayouette, The polarity protein Par-3 directly interacts with p75NTR to regulate myelination, Science, 314 (2006) 832-836.

[141] M. Ozcelik, L. Cotter, C. Jacob, J.A. Pereira, J.B. Relvas, U. Suter, N. Tricaud, Pals1 is a major regulator of the epithelial-like polarization and the extension of the myelin sheath in peripheral nerves, J Neurosci, 30 (2010) 4120-4131.

[142] G. Harauz, V. Ladizhansky, J.M. Boggs, Structural polymorphism and multifunctionality of myelin basic protein, Biochemistry, 48 (2009) 8094-8104.

[143] A.A. Musse, W. Gao, L. Homchaudhuri, J.M. Boggs, G. Harauz, Myelin basic protein as a "PI(4,5)P2-modulin": a new biological function for a major central nervous system protein, Biochemistry, 47 (2008) 10372-10382.

[144] S. Aggarwal, N. Snaidero, G. Pahler, S. Frey, P. Sanchez, M. Zweckstetter, A. Janshoff, A. Schneider, M.T. Weil, I.A. Schaap, D. Gorlich, M. Simons, Myelin membrane assembly is driven by a phase transition of myelin basic proteins into a cohesive protein meshwork, PLoS Biol, 11 (2013) e1001577.

[145] Y. Min, K. Kristiansen, J.M. Boggs, C. Husted, J.A. Zasadzinski, J. Israelachvili, Interaction forces and adhesion of supported myelin lipid bilayers modulated by myelin basic protein, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106 (2009) 3154-3159.

[146] R. Martini, M.H. Mohajeri, S. Kasper, K.P. Giese, M. Schachner, Mice doubly deficient in the genes for P0 and myelin basic protein show that both proteins contribute to the formation of the major dense line in peripheral nerve myelin, J Neurosci, 15 (1995) 4488-4495.

[147] S. Ruskamo, R.P. Yadav, S. Sharma, M. Lehtimaki, S. Laulumaa, S. Aggarwal, M. Simons, J. Burck, A.S. Ulrich, A.H. Juffer, I. Kursula, P. Kursula, Atomic resolution view into the structure-function relationships of the human myelin peripheral membrane protein P2, Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr, 70 (2014) 165-176.

[148] K.A. Nave, H.B. Werner, Myelination of the nervous system: mechanisms and functions, Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 30 (2014) 503-533.

[149] D.L. Sherman, P.J. Brophy, Mechanisms of axon ensheathment and myelin growth, Nat Rev Neurosci, 6 (2005) 683-690.

[150] M. Podbielska, N.L. Banik, E. Kurowska, E.L. Hogan, Myelin recovery in multiple sclerosis: the challenge of remyelination, Brain Sci, 3 (2013) 1282-1324.

[151] R. Chrast, G. Saher, K.A. Nave, M.H. Verheijen, Lipid metabolism in myelinating glial cells: lessons from human inherited disorders and mouse models, J Lipid Res, 52 (2011) 419-434.

[152] W.T. Norton, L.A. Autilio, The lipid composition of purified bovine brain myelin, J Neurochem, 13 (1966) 213-222.

[153] R.H. Quarles, Myelin sheaths: glycoproteins involved in their formation, maintenance and degeneration, Cell Mol Life Sci, 59 (2002) 1851-1871.

[154] S. Grassi, S. Prioni, L. Cabitta, M. Aureli, S. Sonnino, A. Prinetti, The Role of 3-O-Sulfogalactosylceramide, Sulfatide, in the Lateral Organization of Myelin Membrane, Neurochem Res, 41 (2016) 130-143.

[155] K. Honke, Biosynthesis and biological function of sulfoglycolipids, Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci, 89 (2013) 129-138.

[156] M. Blomqvist, J. Boren, H. Zetterberg, K. Blennow, J.E. Mansson, M. Stahlman, High-throughput analysis of sulfatides in cerebrospinal fluid using automated extraction and UPLC-MS/MS, J Lipid Res, 58 (2017) 1482-1489.

[157] S. Imgrund, D. Hartmann, H. Farwanah, M. Eckhardt, R. Sandhoff, J. Degen, V. Gieselmann, K. Sandhoff, K. Willecke, Adult ceramide synthase 2 (CERS2)-deficient mice exhibit myelin sheath defects, cerebellar degeneration, and hepatocarcinomas, J Biol Chem, 284 (2009) 33549-33560.

[158] J.L. Dupree, T. Coetzee, K. Suzuki, B. Popko, Myelin abnormalities in mice deficient in galactocerebroside and sulfatide, J Neurocytol, 27 (1998) 649-659.

[159] T. Coetzee, N. Fujita, J. Dupree, R. Shi, A. Blight, K. Suzuki, K. Suzuki, B. Popko, Myelination in the absence of galactocerebroside and sulfatide: normal structure with abnormal function and regional instability, Cell, 86 (1996) 209-219.

[160] J.L. Dupree, B. Popko, Genetic dissection of myelin galactolipid function, J Neurocytol, 28 (1999) 271-279.

[161] J. Marcus, J.L. Dupree, B. Popko, Effects of galactolipid elimination on oligodendrocyte development and myelination, Glia, 30 (2000) 319-328.

[162] C. Wang, M. Wang, Y. Zhou, J.L. Dupree, X. Han, Alterations in mouse brain lipidome after disruption of CST gene: a lipidomics study, Mol Neurobiol, 50 (2014) 88-96.

[163] K. Honke, Y. Hirahara, J. Dupree, K. Suzuki, B. Popko, K. Fukushima, J. Fukushima, T. Nagasawa, N. Yoshida, Y. Wada, N. Taniguchi, Paranodal junction formation and spermatogenesis require sulfoglycolipids, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 99 (2002) 4227-4232.

[164] T. Ishibashi, J.L. Dupree, K. Ikenaka, Y. Hirahara, K. Honke, E. Peles, B. Popko, K. Suzuki, H. Nishino, H. Baba, A myelin galactolipid, sulfatide, is essential for maintenance of ion channels on myelinated axon but not essential for initial cluster formation, J Neurosci, 22 (2002) 6507-6514.

[165] Y. Hirahara, R. Bansal, K. Honke, K. Ikenaka, Y. Wada, Sulfatide is a negative regulator of oligodendrocyte differentiation: development in sulfatide-null mice, Glia, 45 (2004) 269-277.

[166] S.M. Shroff, A.D. Pomicter, W.N. Chow, M.A. Fox, R.J. Colello, S.C. Henderson, J.L. Dupree, Adult CST-null mice maintain an increased number of oligodendrocytes, J Neurosci Res, 87 (2009) 3403-3414.

[167] A. Bosio, E. Binczek, W. Stoffel, Functional breakdown of the lipid bilayer of the myelin membrane in central and peripheral nervous system by disrupted galactocerebroside synthesis, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 93 (1996) 13280-13285.

[168] J. Marcus, S. Honigbaum, S. Shroff, K. Honke, J. Rosenbluth, J.L. Dupree, Sulfatide is essential for the maintenance of CNS myelin and axon structure, Glia, 53 (2006) 372-381.

[169] B. Popko, Myelin galactolipids: mediators of axon-glial interactions?, Glia, 29 (2000) 149-153.

[170] E. Gielen, W. Baron, M. Vandeven, P. Steels, D. Hoekstra, M. Ameloot, Rafts in oligodendrocytes: evidence and structure-function relationship, Glia, 54 (2006) 499-512.

[171] H. Ozgen, W. Schrimpf, J. Hendrix, J.C. de Jonge, D.C. Lamb, D. Hoekstra, N. Kahya, W. Baron, The lateral membrane organization and dynamics of myelin proteins PLP and MBP are dictated by distinct galactolipids and the extracellular matrix, PLoS One, 9 (2014) e101834.

[172] L.S. DeBruin, J.D. Haines, D. Bienzle, G. Harauz, Partitioning of myelin basic protein into membrane microdomains in a spontaneously demyelinating mouse model for multiple sclerosis, Biochem Cell Biol, 84 (2006) 993-1005.

[173] L.S. DeBruin, J.D. Haines, L.A. Wellhauser, G. Radeva, V. Schonmann, D. Bienzle, G. Harauz, Developmental partitioning of myelin basic protein into membrane microdomains, J Neurosci Res, 80 (2005) 211-225.

[174] A. Bosio, E. Binczek, W.F. Haupt, W. Stoffel, Composition and biophysical properties of myelin lipid define the neurological defects in galactocerebroside- and sulfatide-deficient mice, J Neurochem, 70 (1998) 308-315.

[175] J.M. Boggs, Role of galactosylceramide and sulfatide in oligodendrocytes and CNS myelin: formation of a glycosynapse, Adv Neurobiol, 9 (2014) 263-291.

[176] A.A. Vyas, H.V. Patel, S.E. Fromholt, M. Heffer-Lauc, K.A. Vyas, J. Dang, M. Schachner, R.L. Schnaar, Gangliosides are functional nerve cell ligands for myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), an inhibitor of nerve regeneration, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 99 (2002) 8412-8417.

[177] R.K. Yu, R.W. Ledeen, Gangliosides of human, bovine, and rabbit plasma, J Lipid Res, 13 (1972) 680-686.

[178] S. Love, Demyelinating diseases, J Clin Pathol, 59 (2006) 1151-1159.

[179] C.A. Dendrou, L. Fugger, M.A. Friese, Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis, Nat Rev Immunol, 15 (2015) 545-558.

[180] B. Becher, I. Bechmann, M. Greter, Antigen presentation in autoimmunity and CNS inflammation: how T lymphocytes recognize the brain, J Mol Med (Berl), 84 (2006) 532-543.

[181] S. Mukherjee, T.T. Soe, F.R. Maxfield, Endocytic sorting of lipid analogues differing solely in the chemistry of their hydrophobic tails, J Cell Biol, 144 (1999) 1271-1284.

[182] S.D. Gadola, N.R. Zaccai, K. Harlos, D. Shepherd, J.C. Castro-Palomino, G. Ritter, R.R. Schmidt, E.Y. Jones, V. Cerundolo, Structure of human CD1b with bound ligands at 2.3 A, a maze for alkyl chains, Nat Immunol, 3 (2002) 721-726.

[183] T. Batuwangala, D. Shepherd, S.D. Gadola, K.J. Gibson, N.R. Zaccai, A.R. Fersht, G.S. Besra, V. Cerundolo, E.Y. Jones, The crystal structure of human CD1b with a bound bacterial glycolipid, J Immunol, 172 (2004) 2382-2388.

[184] D.B. Moody, T. Ulrichs, W. Muhlecker, D.C. Young, S.S. Gurcha, E. Grant, J.P. Rosat, M.B. Brenner, C.E. Costello, G.S. Besra, S.A. Porcelli, CD1c-mediated T-cell recognition of isoprenoid glycolipids in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection, Nature, 404 (2000) 884-888.

[185] A. Shamshiev, H.J. Gober, A. Donda, Z. Mazorra, L. Mori, G. De Libero, Presentation of the same glycolipid by different CD1 molecules, J Exp Med, 195 (2002) 1013-1021.

[186] L. Steinman, Multiple sclerosis: a coordinated immunological attack against myelin in the central nervous system, Cell, 85 (1996) 299-302.

[187] J.H. Noseworthy, C. Lucchinetti, M. Rodriguez, B.G. Weinshenker, Multiple sclerosis, N Engl J Med, 343 (2000) 938-952.

[188] G. Wolswijk, R. Balesar, Changes in the expression and localization of the paranodal protein Caspr on axons in chronic multiple sclerosis, Brain, 126 (2003) 1638-1649.

[189] I. Coman, M.S. Aigrot, D. Seilhean, R. Reynolds, J.A. Girault, B. Zalc, C. Lubetzki, Nodal, paranodal and juxtaparanodal axonal proteins during demyelination and remyelination in multiple sclerosis, Brain, 129 (2006) 3186-3195.

[190] O.W. Howell, A. Palser, A. Polito, S. Melrose, B. Zonta, C. Scheiermann, A.J. Vora, P.J. Brophy, R. Reynolds, Disruption of neurofascin localization reveals early changes preceding demyelination and remyelination in multiple sclerosis, Brain, 129 (2006) 3173-3185.

[191] J.L. Kanter, S. Narayana, P.P. Ho, I. Catz, K.G. Warren, R.A. Sobel, L. Steinman, W.H. Robinson, Lipid microarrays identify key mediators of autoimmune brain inflammation, Nat Med, 12 (2006) 138-143.

[192] S. Marques, A. Zeisel, S. Codeluppi, D. van Bruggen, A. Mendanha Falcao, L. Xiao, H. Li, M. Haring, H. Hochgerner, R.A. Romanov, D. Gyllborg, A. Munoz Manchado, G. La Manno, P. Lonnerberg, E.M. Floriddia, F. Rezayee, P. Ernfors, E. Arenas, J. Hjerling-Leffler, T. Harkany, W.D. Richardson, S. Linnarsson, G. Castelo-Branco, Oligodendrocyte heterogeneity in the mouse juvenile and adult central nervous system, Science, 352 (2016) 1326-1329.

[193] A.H. Crawford, R.B. Tripathi, S. Foerster, I. McKenzie, E. Kougioumtzidou, M. Grist, W.D. Richardson, R.J. Franklin, Pre-Existing Mature Oligodendrocytes Do Not Contribute to Remyelination following Toxin-Induced Spinal Cord Demyelination, Am J Pathol, 186 (2016) 511-516.

[194] H.S. Keirstead, W.F. Blakemore, Identification of post-mitotic oligodendrocytes incapable of remyelination within the demyelinated adult spinal cord, J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 56 (1997) 1191-1201.

[195] S. Mozafari, M.A. Sherafat, M. Javan, J. Mirnajafi-Zadeh, T. Tiraihi, Visual evoked potentials and MBP gene expression imply endogenous myelin repair in adult rat optic nerve and chiasm following local lysolecithin induced demyelination, Brain Res, 1351 (2010) 50-56.
[196] P. Patrikios, C. Stadelmann, A. Kutzelnigg, H. Rauschka, M. Schmidbauer, H. Laursen, P.S. Sorensen, W. Bruck, C. Lucchinetti, H. Lassmann, Remyelination is extensive in a subset of multiple sclerosis patients, Brain, 129 (2006) 3165-3172.

[197] S. Bramow, J.M. Frischer, H. Lassmann, N. Koch-Henriksen, C.F. Lucchinetti, P.S. Sorensen, H. Laursen, Demyelination versus remyelination in progressive multiple sclerosis, Brain, 133 (2010) 2983-2998.

[198] R. Patani, M. Balaratnam, A. Vora, R. Reynolds, Remyelination can be extensive in multiple sclerosis despite a long disease course, Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 33 (2007) 277-287.

[199] R.J. Franklin, C. Ffrench-Constant, Remyelination in the CNS: from biology to therapy, Nat Rev Neurosci, 9 (2008) 839-855.

[200] R.J. Franklin, Why does remyelination fail in multiple sclerosis?, Nat Rev Neurosci, 3 (2002) 705-714.

[201] M.B. Keough, J.A. Rogers, P. Zhang, S.K. Jensen, E.L. Stephenson, T. Chen, M.G. Hurlbert, L.W. Lau, K.S. Rawji, J.R. Plemel, M. Koch, C.C. Ling, V.W. Yong, An inhibitor of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan synthesis promotes central nervous system remyelination, Nat Commun, 7 (2016) 11312.

[202] L.W. Lau, M.B. Keough, S. Haylock-Jacobs, R. Cua, A. Doring, S. Sloka, D.P. Stirling, S. Rivest, V.W. Yong, Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in demyelinated lesions impair remyelination, Ann Neurol, 72 (2012) 419-432.

[203] S.S. Rosenberg, E.E. Kelland, E. Tokar, A.R. De la Torre, J.R. Chan, The geometric and spatial constraints of the microenvironment induce oligodendrocyte differentiation, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105 (2008) 14662-14667.

[204] T. Kuhlmann, V. Miron, Q. Cui, C. Wegner, J. Antel, W. Bruck, Differentiation block of oligodendroglial progenitor cells as a cause for remyelination failure in chronic multiple sclerosis, Brain, 131 (2008) 1749-1758.

[205] G. Wolswijk, Oligodendrocyte precursor cells in the demyelinated multiple sclerosis spinal cord, Brain, 125 (2002) 338-349.

[206] J.R. Plemel, W.Q. Liu, V.W. Yong, Remyelination therapies: a new direction and challenge in multiple sclerosis, Nat Rev Drug Discov, 16 (2017) 617-634.

[207] J.R. Plemel, S.B. Manesh, J.S. Sparling, W. Tetzlaff, Myelin inhibits oligodendroglial maturation and regulates oligodendrocytic transcription factor expression, Glia, 61 (2013) 1471-1487.

[208] J.M. Ruckh, J.W. Zhao, J.L. Shadrach, P. van Wijngaarden, T.N. Rao, A.J. Wagers, R.J. Franklin, Rejuvenation of regeneration in the aging central nervous system, Cell Stem Cell, 10 (2012) 96-103.

[209] S.A. Shields, J.M. Gilson, W.F. Blakemore, R.J. Franklin, Remyelination occurs as extensively but more slowly in old rats compared to young rats following gliotoxin-induced CNS demyelination, Glia, 28 (1999) 77-83.

[210] M.R. Kotter, A. Setzu, F.J. Sim, N. Van Rooijen, R.J. Franklin, Macrophage depletion impairs oligodendrocyte remyelination following lysolecithin-induced demyelination, Glia, 35 (2001) 204-212.

[211] T.C. Ruijs, M.S. Freedman, Y.G. Grenier, A. Olivier, J.P. Antel, Human oligodendrocytes are susceptible to cytolysis by major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted lymphocytes, J Neuroimmunol, 27 (1990) 89-97.

[212] K.S. Rawji, V.W. Yong, The benefits and detriments of macrophages/microglia in models of multiple sclerosis, Clin Dev Immunol, 2013 (2013) 948976.

[213] A.E. Warrington, M. Rodriguez, Method of identifying natural antibodies for remyelination, J Clin Immunol, 30 Suppl 1 (2010) S50-55.

[214] A.E. Warrington, K. Asakura, A.J. Bieber, B. Ciric, V. Van Keulen, S.V. Kaveri, R.A. Kyle, L.R. Pease, M. Rodriguez, Human monoclonal antibodies reactive to oligodendrocytes promote remyelination in a model of multiple sclerosis, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 97 (2000) 6820-6825.

[215] X. Lee, Z. Yang, Z. Shao, S.S. Rosenberg, M. Levesque, R.B. Pepinsky, M. Qiu, R.H. Miller, J.R. Chan, S. Mi, NGF regulates the expression of axonal LINGO-1 to inhibit oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination, J Neurosci, 27 (2007) 220-225.

[216] S. Jepson, B. Vought, C.H. Gross, L. Gan, D. Austen, J.D. Frantz, J. Zwahlen, D. Lowe, W. Markland, R. Krauss, LINGO-1, a transmembrane signaling protein, inhibits oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination through intercellular self-interactions, J Biol Chem, 287 (2012) 22184-22195.

[217] S. Mi, R.B. Pepinsky, D. Cadavid, Blocking LINGO-1 as a therapy to promote CNS repair: from concept to the clinic, CNS Drugs, 27 (2013) 493-503.

[218] S. Avrameas, T. Ternynck, The natural autoantibodies system: between hypotheses and facts, Mol Immunol, 30 (1993) 1133-1142.

[219] J.O. Watzlawik, B. Wootla, M.M. Painter, A.E. Warrington, M. Rodriguez, Cellular targets and mechanistic strategies of remyelination-promoting IgMs as part of the naturally occurring autoantibody repertoire, Expert Rev Neurother, 13 (2013) 1017-1029.

[220] M. Rodriguez, E. Oleszak, J. Leibowitz, Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis: a model of demyelination and persistence of virus, Crit Rev Immunol, 7 (1987) 325-365.

[221] D.J. Miller, K.S. Sanborn, J.A. Katzmann, M. Rodriguez, Monoclonal autoantibodies promote central nervous system repair in an animal model of multiple sclerosis, J Neurosci, 14 (1994) 6230-6238.

[222] G.P. Kozlowski, I. Sterzl, G. Nilaver, Localization patterns for immunoglobulins and albumins in the brain suggest diverse mechanisms for their transport across the blood-brain barrier (BBB), Prog Brain Res, 91 (1992) 149-154.

[223] I. Pirko, B. Ciric, J. Gamez, A.J. Bieber, A.E. Warrington, A.J. Johnson, D.P. Hanson, L.R. Pease, S.I. Macura, M. Rodriguez, A human antibody that promotes remyelination enters the CNS and decreases lesion load as detected by T2-weighted spinal cord MRI in a virus-induced murine model of MS, FASEB J, 18 (2004) 1577-1579.

[224] S. McQuaid, P. Cunnea, J. McMahon, U. Fitzgerald, The effects of blood-brain barrier disruption on glial cell function in multiple sclerosis, Biochem Soc Trans, 37 (2009) 329-331.

[225] T. Broman, Blood-Brain Barrier Damage in Multiple Sclerosis Supravital Test-Observations, Acta Neurol Scand Suppl, 40 (1964) SUPPL 10:21-14.

[226] A.J. Bieber, A. Warrington, K. Asakura, B. Ciric, S.V. Kaveri, L.R. Pease, M. Rodriguez, Human antibodies accelerate the rate of remyelination following lysolecithin-induced demyelination in mice, Glia, 37 (2002) 241-249.

[227] A.E. Warrington, A.J. Bieber, B. Ciric, L.R. Pease, V. Van Keulen, M. Rodriguez, A recombinant human IgM promotes myelin repair after a single, very low dose, J Neurosci Res, 85 (2007) 967-976.

[228] K. Asakura, D.J. Miller, L.R. Pease, M. Rodriguez, Targeting of IgMkappa antibodies to oligodendrocytes promotes CNS remyelination, J Neurosci, 18 (1998) 7700-7708.

[229] K. Asakura, D.J. Miller, K. Murray, R. Bansal, S.E. Pfeiffer, M. Rodriguez, Monoclonal autoantibody SCH94.03, which promotes central nervous system remyelination, recognizes an antigen on the surface of oligodendrocytes, J Neurosci Res, 43 (1996) 273-281.

[230] K.D. Pavelko, B.G. van Engelen, M. Rodriguez, Acceleration in the rate of CNS remyelination in lysolecithin-induced demyelination, J Neurosci, 18 (1998) 2498-2505.

[231] J. Watzlawik, E. Holicky, D.D. Edberg, D.L. Marks, A.E. Warrington, B.R. Wright, R.E. Pagano, M. Rodriguez, Human remyelination promoting antibody inhibits apoptotic signaling and differentiation through Lyn kinase in primary rat oligodendrocytes, Glia, 58 (2010) 1782-1793.

[232] D.A. Chudakova, Y.H. Zeidan, B.W. Wheeler, J. Yu, S.A. Novgorodov, M.S. Kindy, Y.A. Hannun, T.I. Gudz, Integrin-associated Lyn kinase promotes cell survival by suppressing acid sphingomyelinase activity, J Biol Chem, 283 (2008) 28806-28816.

[233] J.O. Watzlawik, A.E. Warrington, M. Rodriguez, PDGF is required for remyelinationpromoting IgM stimulation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cell proliferation, PLoS One, 8 (2013) e55149.

[234] I.K. Hart, W.D. Richardson, C.H. Heldin, B. Westermark, M.C. Raff, PDGF receptors on cells of the oligodendrocyte-type-2 astrocyte (O-2A) cell lineage, Development, 105 (1989) 595-603.

[235] M. Fruttiger, A.R. Calver, W.H. Kruger, H.S. Mudhar, D. Michalovich, N. Takakura, S. Nishikawa, W.D. Richardson, PDGF mediates a neuron-astrocyte interaction in the developing retina, Neuron, 17 (1996) 1117-1131.

[236] M. Fruttiger, A.R. Calver, W.D. Richardson, Platelet-derived growth factor is constitutively secreted from neuronal cell bodies but not from axons, Curr Biol, 10 (2000) 1283-1286.

[237] N. Pringle, E.J. Collarini, M.J. Mosley, C.H. Heldin, B. Westermark, W.D. Richardson, PDGF A chain homodimers drive proliferation of bipotential (O-2A) glial progenitor cells in the developing rat optic nerve, EMBO J, 8 (1989) 1049-1056.

[238] F.C. Silberstein, R. De Simone, G. Levi, F. Aloisi, Cytokine-regulated expression of plateletderived growth factor gene and protein in cultured human astrocytes, J Neurochem, 66 (1996) 1409-1417.

[239] A.R. Calver, A.C. Hall, W.P. Yu, F.S. Walsh, J.K. Heath, C. Betsholtz, W.D. Richardson, Oligodendrocyte population dynamics and the role of PDGF in vivo, Neuron, 20 (1998) 869-882.

[240] M. Fruttiger, L. Karlsson, A.C. Hall, A. Abramsson, A.R. Calver, H. Bostrom, K. Willetts, C.H. Bertold, J.K. Heath, C. Betsholtz, W.D. Richardson, Defective oligodendrocyte development and severe hypomyelination in PDGF-A knockout mice, Development, 126 (1999) 457-467.

[241] B.A. Barres, I.K. Hart, H.S. Coles, J.F. Burne, J.T. Voyvodic, W.D. Richardson, M.C. Raff, Cell death and control of cell survival in the oligodendrocyte lineage, Cell, 70 (1992) 31-46.

[242] M. Noble, K. Murray, P. Stroobant, M.D. Waterfield, P. Riddle, Platelet-derived growth factor promotes division and motility and inhibits premature differentiation of the oligodendrocyte/type-2 astrocyte progenitor cell, Nature, 333 (1988) 560-562.

[243] W.D. Richardson, N. Pringle, M.J. Mosley, B. Westermark, M. Dubois-Dalcq, A role for platelet-derived growth factor in normal gliogenesis in the central nervous system, Cell, 53 (1988) 309-319.

[244] B.A. Barres, R. Schmid, M. Sendnter, M.C. Raff, Multiple extracellular signals are required for long-term oligodendrocyte survival, Development, 118 (1993) 283-295.

[245] C.L. Howe, A.J. Bieber, A.E. Warrington, L.R. Pease, M. Rodriguez, Antiapoptotic signaling by a remyelination-promoting human antimyelin antibody, Neurobiol Dis, 15 (2004) 120-131.

[246] B.R. Wright, A.E. Warrington, D.D. Edberg, M. Rodriguez, Cellular mechanisms of central nervous system repair by natural autoreactive monoclonal antibodies, Arch Neurol, 66 (2009) 1456-1459.

[247] K. Hagemeier, W. Bruck, T. Kuhlmann, Multiple sclerosis - remyelination failure as a cause of disease progression, Histol Histopathol, 27 (2012) 277-287.

[248] A. Alizadeh, S.M. Dyck, S. Karimi-Abdolrezaee, Myelin damage and repair in pathologic CNS: challenges and prospects, Front Mol Neurosci, 8 (2015) 35.

[249] A.P. Mullin, C. Cui, Y. Wang, J. Wang, E. Troy, A.O. Caggiano, T.J. Parry, R.W. Colburn, E. Pavlopoulos, rHIgM22 enhances remyelination in the brain of the cuprizone mouse model of demyelination, Neurobiol Dis, 105 (2017) 142-155.

[250] C. Cui, J. Wang, A.P. Mullin, A.O. Caggiano, T.J. Parry, R.W. Colburn, E. Pavlopoulos, The antibody rHIgM22 facilitates hippocampal remyelination and ameliorates memory deficits in the cuprizone mouse model of demyelination, Brain Res, 1694 (2018) 73-86.

[251] A. Eisen, B.M. Greenberg, J.D. Bowen, D.L. Arnold, A.O. Caggiano, A double-blind, placebo-controlled, single ascending-dose study of remyelinating antibody rHIgM22 in people with multiple sclerosis, Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin, 3 (2017) 2055217317743097.

[252] Y. Mitsunaga, B. Ciric, V. Van Keulen, A.E. Warrington, M. Paz Soldan, A.J. Bieber, M. Rodriguez, L.R. Pease, Direct evidence that a human antibody derived from patient serum can promote myelin repair in a mouse model of chronic-progressive demyelinating disease, FASEB J, 16 (2002) 1325-1327.

[253] S. Grassi, P. Giussani, S. Prioni, D. Button, J. Cao, I. Hakimi, P. Sarmiere, M. Srinivas, L. Cabitta, S. Sonnino, A. Prinetti, Human Remyelination Promoting Antibody Stimulates Astrocytes Proliferation Through Modulation of the Sphingolipid Rheostat in Primary Rat Mixed Glial Cultures, Neurochem Res, 44 (2019) 1460-1474.

[254] F. Scandroglio, J.K. Venkata, N. Loberto, S. Prioni, E.H. Schuchman, V. Chigorno, A. Prinetti, S. Sonnino, Lipid content of brain, brain membrane lipid domains, and neurons from acid sphingomyelinase deficient mice, J Neurochem, 107 (2008) 329-338.

[255] F. Antonucci, E. Turola, L. Riganti, M. Caleo, M. Gabrielli, C. Perrotta, L. Novellino, E. Clementi, P. Giussani, P. Viani, M. Matteoli, C. Verderio, Microvesicles released from microglia stimulate synaptic activity via enhanced sphingolipid metabolism, EMBO J, 31 (2012) 1231-1240.

[256] K.D. McCarthy, J. de Vellis, Preparation of separate astroglial and oligodendroglial cell cultures from rat cerebral tissue, J Cell Biol, 85 (1980) 890-902.

[257] W.T. Norton, S.E. Poduslo, Myelination in rat brain: method of myelin isolation, J Neurochem, 21 (1973) 749-757.

[258] F. Scandroglio, N. Loberto, M. Valsecchi, V. Chigorno, A. Prinetti, S. Sonnino, Thin layer chromatography of gangliosides, Glycoconj J, 26 (2009) 961-973.

[259] J.L. Magnani, D.F. Smith, V. Ginsburg, Detection of gangliosides that bind cholera toxin: direct binding of 125I-labeled toxin to thin-layer chromatograms, Anal Biochem, 109 (1980) 399-402.

[260] I. Meisen, M. Mormann, J. Muthing, Thin-layer chromatography, overlay technique and mass spectrometry: a versatile triad advancing glycosphingolipidomics, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1811 (2011) 875-896.

[261] C.S. Ho, C.W. Lam, M.H. Chan, R.C. Cheung, L.K. Law, L.C. Lit, K.F. Ng, M.W. Suen, H.L. Tai, Electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry: principles and clinical applications, Clin Biochem Rev, 24 (2003) 3-12.

[262] S. Banerjee, S. Mazumdar, Electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: a technique to access the information beyond the molecular weight of the analyte, Int J Anal Chem, 2012 (2012) 282574.

[263] D.G. Drescher, N.A. Ramakrishnan, M.J. Drescher, Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) analysis of binding interactions of proteins in inner-ear sensory epithelia, Methods Mol Biol, 493 (2009) 323-343.

[264] H. Mozsolits, W.G. Thomas, M.I. Aguilar, Surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy in the study of membrane-mediated cell signalling, J Pept Sci, 9 (2003) 77-89.

[265] K. Iwabuchi, H. Masuda, N. Kaga, H. Nakayama, R. Matsumoto, C. Iwahara, F. Yoshizaki, Y. Tamaki, T. Kobayashi, T. Hayakawa, K. Ishii, M. Yanagida, H. Ogawa, K. Takamori, Properties and functions of lactosylceramide from mouse neutrophils, Glycobiology, 25 (2015) 655-668.

[266] M. Blomqvist, V. Gieselmann, J.E. Mansson, Accumulation of lysosulfatide in the brain of arylsulfatase A-deficient mice, Lipids Health Dis, 10 (2011) 28.

[267] B. Rosengren, P. Fredman, J.E. Mansson, L. Svennerholm, Lysosulfatide (galactosylsphingosine-3-O-sulfate) from metachromatic leukodystrophy and normal human brain, J Neurochem, 52 (1989) 1035-1041.

[268] K. Toda, T. Kobayashi, I. Goto, K. Ohno, Y. Eto, K. Inui, S. Okada, Lysosulfatide (sulfogalactosylsphingosine) accumulation in tissues from patients with metachromatic leukodystrophy, J Neurochem, 55 (1990) 1585-1591.

[269] J.S. O'Brien, E.L. Sampson, Lipid composition of the normal human brain: gray matter, white matter, and myelin, J Lipid Res, 6 (1965) 537-544.

[270] Y.J. Bjorkqvist, S. Nybond, T.K. Nyholm, J.P. Slotte, B. Ramstedt, N-palmitoyl-sulfatide participates in lateral domain formation in complex lipid bilayers, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1778 (2008) 954-962.

[271] R.J. Stewart, J.M. Boggs, Dependence of the surface expression of the glycolipid cerebroside sulfate on its lipid environment: comparison of sphingomyelin and phosphatidylcholine, Biochemistry, 29 (1990) 3644-3653.

[272] A. Chang, W.W. Tourtellotte, R. Rudick, B.D. Trapp, Premyelinating oligodendrocytes in chronic lesions of multiple sclerosis, N Engl J Med, 346 (2002) 165-173.

[273] G. Wolswijk, Chronic stage multiple sclerosis lesions contain a relatively quiescent population of oligodendrocyte precursor cells, J Neurosci, 18 (1998) 601-609.

[274] K.B. Walhovd, H. Johansen-Berg, R.T. Karadottir, Unraveling the secrets of white matter-bridging the gap between cellular, animal and human imaging studies, Neuroscience, 276 (2014) 2-13.

[275] L.M. Schonrock, T. Kuhlmann, S. Adler, A. Bitsch, W. Bruck, Identification of glial cell proliferation in early multiple sclerosis lesions, Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 24 (1998) 320-330.

[276] W.M. Carroll, A.R. Jennings, Early recruitment of oligodendrocyte precursors in CNS demyelination, Brain, 117 (Pt 3) (1994) 563-578.

[277] J.C. Murtie, Y.X. Zhou, T.Q. Le, A.C. Vana, R.C. Armstrong, PDGF and FGF2 pathways regulate distinct oligodendrocyte lineage responses in experimental demyelination with spontaneous remyelination, Neurobiol Dis, 19 (2005) 171-182.

[278] T.J. Kopper, J.C. Gensel, Myelin as an inflammatory mediator: Myelin interactions with complement, macrophages, and microglia in spinal cord injury, J Neurosci Res, 96 (2018) 969-977.

[279] C. Zhao, W.W. Li, R.J. Franklin, Differences in the early inflammatory responses to toxininduced demyelination are associated with the age-related decline in CNS remyelination, Neurobiol Aging, 27 (2006) 1298-1307.

[280] W.F. Blakemore, D.M. Chari, J.M. Gilson, A.J. Crang, Modelling large areas of demyelination in the rat reveals the potential and possible limitations of transplanted glial cells for remyelination in the CNS, Glia, 38 (2002) 155-168.

[281] I.D. Duncan, A.J. Aguayo, R.P. Bunge, P.M. Wood, Transplantation of rat Schwann cells grown in tissue culture into the mouse spinal cord, J Neurol Sci, 49 (1981) 241-252.

[282] W.F. Blakemore, A.J. Crang, The use of cultured autologous Schwann cells to remyelinate areas of persistent demyelination in the central nervous system, J Neurol Sci, 70 (1985) 207-223.

[283] T. Ben-Hur, S.A. Goldman, Prospects of cell therapy for disorders of myelin, Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1142 (2008) 218-249.

[284] M. Rodriguez, A.E. Warrington, L.R. Pease, Invited article: human natural autoantibodies in the treatment of neurologic disease, Neurology, 72 (2009) 1269-1276.

[285] L. Mayo, F.J. Quintana, H.L. Weiner, The innate immune system in demyelinating disease, Immunol Rev, 248 (2012) 170-187.

[286] J. Correale, M.F. Farez, The Role of Astrocytes in Multiple Sclerosis Progression, Front Neurol, 6 (2015) 180.